
A Meeting of an INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE MEMBER 
DECISION will be held in Civic Offices on THURSDAY 15 
FEBRUARY 2018 AT 3.00 PM

Manjeet Gill
Interim Chief Executive
Published on 7 February 2018

This meeting may be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s 
website.

Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog 
from this meeting.  The use of these images or recordings is 
not under the Council’s control.

Public Document Pack



Our Vision

A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child 
achieving their potential

Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social and 
economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business growth

Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and 
supported by well designed development

Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough

Improve the customer experience when accessing Council 
services

The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax

Provide affordable homes

Look after the vulnerable

Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life

Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and fuel 
efficiency

Deliver quality in all that we do



For consideration by

Keith Baker, Executive Member for Highways and Transport

Officers Present
Luciane Bowker, Democratic and Electoral Services Specialist
David Wilby, Principal Planner

IMD NO. WARD SUBJECT

1. IMD 
2018/05

None Specific GREAT WESTERN CONSULTATION 5 - 80

CONTACT OFFICER
Luciane Bowker Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
Tel 0118 974 6091
Email Luciane.bowker@wokingham.gov.uk
Postal Address Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN



This page is intentionally left blank



INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE MEMBER DECISION
REFERENCE IMD: IMD 2018/05

TITLE Great Western Consultation

DECISION TO BE MADE BY Executive Member for Highways and Transport - 
Keith Baker 

DATE,
MEETING ROOM and TIME

15 February 2018
SF4 at 15:00

WARD None Specific;

DIRECTOR Interim Director of Environment - Josie Wragg

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY

Response to the DfT’s consultation on the future of the Great Western Rail Franchise on 
behalf of Wokingham Borough. Response to be with the DfT by 21 February 2018

RECOMMENDATION

The consultation document asks 19 questions on the future of the Great Western, 
regarding its size, shape and relationship with Network Rail. The Council has answered 
the appropriate questions

SUMMARY OF REPORT

The report responds to the 19 questions on the future of the franchise, covering the 
objectives of enhancement, improved journey times and improved train frequencies. The 
document explores a number of options to deliver the objectives. Wokingham Borough 
Council have commented on the questions that are relevant to the those lines and 
stations within the borough boundary, these being:

 The Great Western Main Line and Twyford
 The Henley Branch and Wargrave
 The North Downs Line through Wokingham to Guildford, Redhill and Gatwick 

and,
 The Reading to Basingstoke line with the prospect of new development at 

Grazeley.

Page 5

Agenda Item IMD5



Background

The GWR franchise only covers 2 GWR operated stations in the borough, these being 
Twyford and Wargrave. Crowthorne Station, just within Bracknell Forest, is also operated 
by GWR and serves the part of this Borough within the settlement of Crowthorne.  

GWR operates stopping services on 4 lines passing through the Borough and GWR 
services call at Wokingham (where GWR provides about half the train services) and at 
Winnersh (a few services).  

Analysis of Issues

Changes to the way the franchise operates and delivers services up to 2024 will change 
connectivity for many residents. The introduction of the Elizabeth line, operated by TfL 
has to be accommodated by GWR and will affect services and connectivity from 
Twyford. Included within the scope of the change could also be services to Heathrow 
and we feel that GWR should be the custodian of that project and that services that 
form the future Western Rail Access to Heathrow services. 

We have commented on the proposal to split the franchise up and reduce the size of the 
franchised area and then further integrating service delivery, of train and track, by 
forming a stronger alliance with Network Rail. The council has made the comment that 
we do not see any value in the case for franchise devolution if the DfT wants to see a 
stronger alliance with NR across the Western Route.

We also comment on the boroughs need to deliver a new station and improved station 
facilities. We value strong links with the franchise and in particular the support of GWR 
with a new station at Grazeley should the development come forward and necessitate 
it’s construction. We also value the relationship and the hard work put in by the GWR 
team to develop a solution to car parking and access at Twyford station. We will look to 
continue to develop a way forward at Twyford and work within the confines of the new 
franchise proposals.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result of 
the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent reductions 
to public sector funding.  It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be 
required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the next three years and 
all Executive decisions should be made in this context.

How much will it 
Cost/ (Save)

Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall 

Revenue or 
Capital?

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1)

Nil Nil Nil

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2)

Nil Nil Nil

Following Financial 
Year (Year 3)

Nil Nil Nil

Page 6



Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
N/A

Cross-Council Implications 
N/A

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Director – Corporate Services No comments received
Monitoring Officer No comments received
Leader of the Council No comments received

For Highways use only
If your item is not about a highways matter you do not need to complete the Town and Parish Council 

information or the Local Ward Member information
Town and Parish Councils

Local Ward Members

List of Background Papers

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/great-western-franchise-response-to-the-
2014-consultation

Contact  David Wilby Service  Place
Telephone No  Tel: 0118 974 6468 Email  david.wilby@wokingham.gov.uk

Page 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/great-western-franchise-response-to-the-2014-consultation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/great-western-franchise-response-to-the-2014-consultation


This page is intentionally left blank



Closing date for responses is 21st February 2018.

To: GWconsultation@dft.gsi.gov.uk 

Great Western Franchise Consultation

Department for Transport

Zone 4/19

Great Minster house

33 Horseferry Road

London SW1P 4DR

Response to the Public Consultation to the Great Western Rail Franchise

From Wokingham Borough Council.

Wokingham Borough Council is one of the six Berkshire Unitary Authorities and, while there 
are only 2 stations within the Borough operated by GWR, these being Twyford and Wargrave, 
Crowthorne Station (just within Bracknell Forest) is also operated by GWR and serves the part 
of this Borough within the settlement of Crowthorne.  GWR operates stopping services on 4 
lines passing through the Borough and GWR services call at Wokingham (where GWR provides 
about half the train services) and at Winnersh (a few services).  The 4 lines are the Great 
Western Main Line, the Henley-on-Thames branch, the North Downs Line from Reading to 
Gatwick Airport and the Reading to Basingstoke line which, although it only traverses the 
Borough for about 1000m without a station in the Borough, should be heavily used if current 
plans for housing development and a new railway station are realised in the next decade.

Consultation Question 1.   Franchise Objectives for the 2020s.

We generally Agree with the majority of the objectives proposed in the consultation.  
Although almost implicit in a number of them we would wish to see specific mention of:

 Journey time reductions - wherever possible and practical.
 Frequency enhancements – again where possible and practical.
 Improved connectivity - by having through services where practical or good 

connections between services where through services are impractical.
 Station improvements – to ensure they offer an attractive environment to grow 

passenger usage.  (We appreciate that ‘Focus on the needs of the travelling public’ 
covers this to an extent.)

Consultation Question 2.  Splitting the Great Western Franchise.

We Disagree with this proposal.  We are aware that in passenger satisfaction surveys the 
Open Access Operators, such as Hull Trains and Grand Central, tend come top followed by the 

Page 9

mailto:GWconsultation@dft.gsi.gov.uk


small TOCs such as Chiltern Railways and the C2C Franchise (London, Tilbury and Southend) 
leading to the conclusion that ‘small is beautiful’, suggesting the way to proceed.

However, we understand the need to minimise interface problems within the railway and that 
is the primary aim of the Great Western Alliance between GWR and the Western Route of 
Network Rail.  We consider that making the Alliance a success will be challenging not least as 
it is between a privately owned train operating company and a nationalised industry.

With that in mind, we consider that it is extraordinary to consider the splitting of the current 
GW franchise into 2 (or more) smaller franchises as that would inevitably increase the number 
of interfaces and, as Sir Peter Parker (a former chairman of British Rail)  observed ,“the railway 
falls flat on its interfaces.”  This further fragmentation would only lead to a greater number 
of interfaces, the preparation for the splitting up of GWR would be a distraction for 
management and it would need the creation of yet another ‘Alliance’ between ‘NuTOC’ and 
the Network Rail Route.  We can see no positives to justify this proposition.

We consider that the current management of GWR has done everything possible to develop 
the rail services in and to the South West (and elsewhere) with the refurbishment of the 
sleeper trains, the redevelopment of Long Rock Depot, the ordering of the Class 802 trains, 
the plans for the short formation HSTs, the transfer of the Turbo fleet to the West Country 
and GWR’s wholehearted support for Community Rail Partnerships many of which are in the 
South West.  It is difficult to imagine just what more a separate TOC could have achieved.

We understand that the sleeper train was serviced at the GW Old Oak Depot but, with its 
closure, the train is now serviced at the Reading Train Care Depot which will belong to the 
residual Great Western or Thames TOC.  While this can be covered by a Service Level 
Agreement, it is an example of the potential interfaces that would arise were the GW 
franchise to split as suggested in the Consultation.

The potential for competition is cited as one reason for splitting the franchise and there is 
currently a choice at Reading between the LDHS services operated by GWR and the service to 
Waterloo operated by South Western Railway.  As the journey time to Waterloo is well over 
twice the time on fast services to Paddington this is hardly a competition.  From December 
2019, Elizabeth Line services will operate to Reading although we suspect that Berkshire 
commuters will prefer Class 387s to the Crossrail Class 345, with commuters choosing to 
change onto the Elizabeth Line at Paddington.  But the Elizabeth line could potentially provide 
competing services although we understand that GWR sets the fares from Reading and, unless 
this changes, passengers will continue to choose to use LDHS services to Paddington.  

Consultation Question 3.  Transfer of Services to another TOC.

Greenford Branch.  As this is not in Wokingham Borough we basically offer ‘No opinion’ but 
can see the logic of transferring this service to the Chiltern TOC which has depots nearer to 
the branch and is an currently an all diesel TOC.

Page 10



Brighton – Southampton Services.  Again, as this is not in Wokingham Borough, we offer ‘No 
opinion’ on the possible transfer of these services and, not having access to MOIRA ticketing 
data, we have no information on how many passengers use these trains through 
Southampton and who therefore would be inconvenienced by having to change at either 
Southampton or, say, Portsmouth.   We recognise the undesirability of operating diesel trains 
over this considerable distance of 3rd rail, particularly when there is shortfall of good quality 
DMUs and a likely surplus of relatively modern electric trains capable of operating from the 
3rd rail.

North Downs Line.   We are aware of various suggestions in the railway press that this line 
should more logically be part of the SW franchise.   Recent history (Network SouthEast legacy) 
explains why it is now part of the GW franchise and we consider that, despite the ‘penetrating 
line’ argument, the North Downs line should stay in the GW franchise.  While it remains diesel 
operated, it needs the high capacity Turbo Class 166s to meet the demand for travel and the 
residual fleet is maintained at the Reading Train Care Depot.  We also note that the Great 
Western RUS of March 2010 (page 218) identified the potential of services from Gatwick 
Airport being extended through Reading to Oxford to make use of the re-instated eastern 
underpass at Reading.  From personal observation, we are aware of the long trek 
interchanging passengers have at Reading, many with large suitcases, from Platforms 4, 5 and 
6 along Platform 7 to get to the transfer deck, an interchange that would be significantly more 
convenient for passengers if Gatwick services used Platforms 14 or 15.  This also formed part 
of the GWR Vision (see below) to develop services on the North Downs Line proposing “2 tph 
between Gatwick and Oxford (and beyond?)”  Therefore, if Reading to Oxford remains in the 
GW franchise then there are logical reasons to leave the North Downs Line in that franchise.

Western Rail Link to Heathrow.  

Western Rail Link is subject to funding and the granting of a DCO but is expected to open in 
2024, very likely beyond the span of the next proposed DA franchise even with the 2 year 
option being exercised.  But planning for these services needs to proceed and an operator for 
these services has yet to be agreed.  We suggest that there are at least 3 obvious options: 
Heathrow Express, an extension of Elizabeth Line services or the GW TOC.  Wokingham 
Borough Council considers a premium service to be unnecessary and undesirable at Twyford 
Station and therefore would not wish to see Heathrow Express being the operator.  Elizabeth 
Line trains could loop through Heathrow serving both Terminals 2 and 5 to return to the 
GWML at Langley.  However these trains are optimised for inner London metro use and are 
not best suited to high ambience airport services.  Neither are these trains suitable for any 
extension west of Reading and therefore these services would reverse in Reading Station 
making sub-optimal use of platform capacity.  Being unit trains of 9 x 23m cars, they would 
have excess capacity for early morning or late evening use when demand is expected to be 
reduced.

Consequently, we suggest that Western Rail Link services should be operated by the GW TOC 
and that Class 387s are the more suitable train for airport services, can operate as single 4 car 
sets in the off peak and can be extended through Reading to enhance connectivity.  The 
Reading to Basingstoke line remains earmarked for electrification and, once this is complete, 

Page 11



we suggest that half the Western Rail Link services are extended to Basingstoke (the 
remainder to, say, Newbury) to serve Hampshire and with the potential to serve any new 
planned settlement at Grazeley, should that be approved  (see below.) 

Consultation Question 4.  Integration between the train operator and Network Rail.

a.  Main Challenges.   We consider the main challenges that would be addressed are 
managing any outside influence that leads to out of course running, improved visibility 
on the need for and managing the effects of possessions on the railway and to take a 
wider view on the management of vegetation to improve rail adhesion conditions in 
the leaf fall season.

b. Future Priorities.  We have no real visibility on future priorities other than the points 
outlined above.

c. Wessex and Sussex Routes.  The consultation refers exclusively to the Western Route 
of Network Rail.  The closer co-operation should also be with the Wessex Route and 
indeed the Sussex Route to take account of the North Downs Line to Gatwick Airport 
and the Reading to Basingstoke line which becomes Wessex Route just south of 
Southcote Junction.

d. Single Point of Contact.  Local authorities have a single point of contact with GWR 
through their Regional Development Managers (appointments that will be replicated 
on South Western Railway).  But there is no equivalent with Network Rail which is, 
from our viewpoint, a distant organisation without an obvious point of entry.  Ideally 
the TOC’s Regional Development Manager should serve the Alliance but we suspect 
the span of interfaces would overload these individuals and reduce their effectiveness.  
Therefore we suggest that the Network Rail Routes should identify an officer to liaise 
with local authorities and LEPs and work with the TOC Regional Development 
Managers to form a joint ‘Point of Contact’.  

Consultation Question 5.   Improvements to services and enhancements of frequency.

GWR were able to publish their timetables in early December that began on 2nd January 2018.  

GWML.  

a. We were pleased to see that calls on fast services are maintained for the GWML from 
and to Twyford in the peaks.  We are slightly surprised at the minimal changes in the 
Relief Lines services where we anticipated that the Class 387 acceleration would have 
permitted sharper timings.  However we understand that the Relief Lines timetable 
will be subject to significant change over the next 2 years with the progressive 
introduction of Crossrail (retitled Elizabeth Line in December 2018) services replacing 
Heathrow Connect and with Elizabeth Line services being extended to Reading in 
December 2019.

Page 12



b. Fast services to and from Twyford should be retained in a new DA Franchise at, as a 
minimum, the frequencies in the current timetable..

c. We have not seen a draft December 2019 timetable to give us the impact of Elizabeth 
line services being extended to Reading and whether it will be possible to arrange for 
the residual GWR services on the Relief Lines to run to a semi-fast schedule.  This 
should be the aim and connections in and out of the Henley-on-Thames Branch should 
be with GWR services operated by Class 387s.  Elizabeth Line Class 345s have, we 
understand, greater acceleration therefore the existing skip-stop pattern of service 
should, if possible, be modified to take advantage of this and pick up the calls nearer 
London to reduce journey times where possible by GWR services to Maidenhead and 
Twyford. 

The Henley-on-Thames Branch.  We are pleased that experience of operating a 2 tph service 
throughout the day has permitted the inclusion of calls at Wargrave on all services.

5a. Train Frequency Enhancements Requested.  The North Downs Line timetable has been 
basically unchanged since the introduction of the Turbo fleet in the early 1990s.  GWR report 
that this is one of their lines with greatest growth and this leads to severe overcrowding on 
some services and GWR proposed their ‘vision’ for upgrading the line at the beginning of their 
present franchise.  This vision was supported by various studies that Arup had carried out for 
Surrey County Council.  The ‘vision’, with a target completion of 2024 for the full programme, 
called for:

 Electrified service.
 Sub 1 hour journey times between Reading and Gatwick.
 2 tph stopping service between Guildford and Reading.
 1 tph between Guildford and London Victoria via Redhill.
 24 hour express service (to Gatwick).
 2 tph between Gatwick and Oxford (and beyond?).
 improved performance.
 sufficient supporting infrastructure (station facilities and car parks) to meet the 

demand generated by the service improvements.

We fully support GWR’s vision and particularly the second Gatwick service (which has been 
an unrealised franchise commitment for some years) and the 2 tph service at Crowthorne.   
We also support the aspiration for electrification and consider that the pragmatic solution to 
be extension of 3rd rail electrification.  Wokingham Borough has had 3rd rail services since the 
Reading line was electrified on 1st January 1939 and another 3 miles (to the Bracknell Forest 
boundary) is considered to be the obvious solution.  We note and welcome that the Network 
Rail Wessex Route Plan for CP6 includes estimating the cost of electrification of the North 
Downs Line.  However, we recognise that electrification may be some way off and stopgap 
solutions may need to be identified to achieve service enhancements.  We acknowledge that 
the characteristics of the line (being partially electrified on 3 sections separated by 2 non-
electrified sections of 12 miles and 17 miles in length) may mean that consideration of 
alternative solutions would be appropriate and we discuss this in our answer to Question 12e.

Page 13



Winnersh Triangle.  Winnersh Triangle Station serves the adjacent and expanding business 
park that employs some 5,000 people.  With electrified services we would hope that a call on 
the stopping services to Guildford could be accommodated within the timetable to widen the 
pool of prospective employees who could travel there by rail, as well as offering a greater 
frequency of trains from this station which is being developed as a park and ride location.

5b. Times of day or week.  The January 2018 timetable increases the frequency of the 
stopping service between Redhill and Reading from 2 hourly on Sundays to hourly which was 
one of our aspirations that we are pleased to see has now been implemented.  As Sunday is 
a busy day for flights to and from Gatwick we wish to see the second Gatwick per hour on a 7 
days per week basis and the 2 tph frequency for stopping services from Reading to Guildford 
on a Monday to Saturday basis.

5c Why.  Quite simply to drive economic growth, to offer a better alternative to the car to 
relieve congestion both within the Borough, to make travel to Gatwick by rail the a more 
attractive choice and to serve housing development where some 1,500 are destined in 
Crowthorne alone over the next 6 years.

5d. Maintenance Times.  We appreciate the increasing problems faced by Network Rail in 
getting access to the network for maintenance as result of more trains running for longer 
hours.   We recognise the disruption caused by maintenance closures but, if additional access 
is needed, then weekday evenings may offer a window provided every effort is made to 
publicise any such closure effectively.  Wherever possible, trains should run and re-signalling 
should look to offer bi-directional running where practical so that, for example, the 24 hour 
service from Reading to Gatwick could continue to operate with some single track sections 
closed for maintenance. 

Consultation Question 6.  New Stations.

6a. Are you promoting a new station?  Yes.  Wokingham Borough Council is promoting a new 
station at MP 41 on the Reading to Basingstoke line between the future Reading Green Park 
Station and Mortimer Station to serve a new garden settlement of some 15,000 homes (5,000 
in West Berkshire District and 10,000 in Wokingham Borough).  The aim is to serve this station 
by the existing 2 tph GWR stopping service.  

The number of homes that are being considered at this location will be determined through 
the local plan process and is subject to future considerations and planning approval, once a 
master planning process is complete. 

6b. What actions are expected from the franchise in support?  GWR has written a letter of 
support for this new station to Wokingham Borough Council dated 2nd August 2017 and we 
will work closely with the TOC to develop plans for this station to open in around 2026.

Page 14



Consultation Question 7 – Journey times versus station stops.

7a. Journey times to the South West.  Not relevant to Wokingham Borough.

7b. Stations affected.  Not relevant to Wokingham Borough.

 7c. Application Elsewhere?  The principle would be appropriate for the North Downs Line.  
Indeed, GWR’s outline proposal for the second Gatwick service each hour will omit certain 
stops to achieve an incremental journey time reduction.

 

Consultation Question 8.  Direct Services and Connections.

8a. Direct services to be preserved?  Not relevant to Wokingham Borough.

8b. Where should direct services be provided?  Direct services are desirable to give better 
train utilisation, to reduce platform occupation times, to make journeys potentially quicker 
by taking out connections times and increasing the attractiveness of the service by eliminating 
the need to change trains.  We consider that 2 services serving Wokingham Borough should 
provide direct services:

 Gatwick Airport to Oxford (or beyond).  As already described this forms part of the 
GWR ‘Vision’ for the North Downs Line and would use the re-instated eastern 
underpass at Reading to provide a direct service from Gatwick Airport to Oxford or 
beyond.  Such a service would give Wokingham a direct service to Oxford and make 
changing trains with heavy luggage more convenient at Reading and Oxford.  
However, we realise that this would require suitable rolling stock and probably in-fill 
electrification between Wokingham and Reigate.

 Heathrow Terminal 5 to Basingstoke. We have already stated that we consider that 
Western Rail Link to Heathrow services should be part of the GW franchise, to ease 
the problems of platform utilisation at Reading and provide through services from 
Basingstoke with connections from elsewhere in Hampshire, we would wish to see at 
2 trains per hour Western Rail Link services extended to Basingstoke.  We realise that 
such services would require the deferred overhead electrification to be completed 
between Southcote Junction and Basingstoke (as well as the link from Langley 
Junction to Terminal 5) which would enhance connectivity from the proposed 
settlement at Grazeley. 

8c. Improved Connections.  The 2 stations in Wokingham Borough where connections take 
place are Twyford for the branch services to Henley-on-Thames and at Wokingham for 
services on the North Downs Line.  The requirement at both locations is punctuality of services 
to help ensure the certainty of the connection with connections at Twyford into GWR Class 
387 operated services rather than Elizabeth Line services. 

Page 15



Consultation Question 9.  Seasonal Services.  The new franchise must cater for the additional 
demand generated by the Henley Regatta because of the inadequacy of the road network to 
Henley and the shortage of car parking available near the Regatta site.

Consultation Question 10.  Other Train Service Enhancements?   The Great Western 
Modernisation Programme has meant extended possessions over the Christmas and New 
Year periods for some years now.  With the modernisation programme nearing completion 
and with Boxing Day being a major shopping day with many sporting fixtures, we consider 
that the GW franchise should provide services on Boxing Day on all 4 of the lines through the 
Borough.

Consultation Question 11.  Freight.  Not relevant to Wokingham Borough.

Consultation Question 12.  Seats and Space for Passengers.

12a. Rolling Stock Priorities?  With the new Class 800/802 Intercity Express trains, the short 
formed HSTs and the new Class 387s on the Thames suburban services, we consider the 
priority is to get more workings using the overhead wires (or 3rd rail), where possible with 
further electrification, to release more Turbo DMUs for services based on Bristol.  The next 
priority is to explore battery, bi-mode to assess whether they are mature technologies 
offering similar performance to modern EMUs and finally to explore the replacement of Class 
150s as there appears to be a long term need for similar diesel powered fleets.

12b. First Class on more routes?  We consider the current provision to be about right.

12c. Specific Facilities on certain services?  We consider that there is no need to provide 
specific facilities on some services provided the train has adequate accommodation to meet 
the demand.  Trains serving airports need adequate baggage racks as luggage, like people, 
seem to be getting larger and racks need to be positioned so that passengers can keep sight 
of their bags.

12d. If so what.  Not applicable.

12e. Benefits in new technology rolling stock.  

 The benefits may be no or fewer emissions at the point of use, lower whole life costs 
or avoiding the need for capital intensive electrification.   But whole life costs must be 
assessed accurately and the performance (in terms of acceleration, top speed, noise 
levels and ride) must offer a step change to displaced diesel trains to avoid such 
technology being seen as very much second best to full electrification.

 We understand that a commitment within GWR’s existing DA franchise was to 
consider the practicality of battery trains on the North Downs Line with the conclusion 
being that it was not mature technology.  Advances in battery technology over these 
few years may suggest a different conclusion now.

Page 16



 We are aware of the Porterbrook Class 319 Flex project which should offer a unit 
capable of operating off diesel power, 3rd rail or overhead wires.  Units based on this 
concept would be capable of operating through services from Gatwick Airport to 
Oxford albeit with rather frequent changes of power supply.  But we are also aware 
that the Class 319 pre-dates the Turbo fleet which is itself some 25 years old and is 
unlikely to be perceived as a train upgrade.

 We are also conscious that small fleets add to the maintenance problems of the 
operator who strives for, where possible. an homogenous fleet of trains.  
Consequently, a small fleet of trains specific to one route is undesirable and will add 
to costs.

12f. Routes for Innovative Technology.  The Thames Valley branches (Greenford, Windsor 
Central, Marlow and Henley-on-Thames) could be suitable if, for example, battery technology 
accepted very high rates of re-charge to permit recharging during turn rounds but as some 
turn round times barely allow the driver to change ends, this could be challenging.

Consultation Question 13.  Accessibility.

13a. Priority for improving accessibility at stations?  Our 2 GWR operated stations (Twyford 
and Wargrave) are accessible as are Wokingham, Winnersh (served by GWR) and Crowthorne 
(GWR operated but in Bracknell Forest).   In principle we support the Access for All programme 
to make all stations fully accessible which of course assists mothers with pushchairs and 
passengers with heavy luggage as well as the mobility impaired.  The ORR station usage 
figures should be used to prioritise work tempered by the practicality of providing access.

13b. Why? Explained above.

13c. Other improvements to make access easier for all?  (There is overlap here with 
Question 14.) Enhance stations – see our response to Question 14 – such as:

 Improved access by bus, cycle and foot.
 Improved car parking and secure cycle storage.
 Manning of stations where practical (like London Rail) and ease of buying tickets for 

travel and to park.
 Better quality stations – platform heights, platform canopies and shelters, and train 

information.

Consultation Question 14.  Stations.

14a. Correct Priorities?  Yes.

14b. Change any Priorities?  No.

14c. Stations where transport mode co-ordination could be improved?  

Page 17



 Twyford, but this requires land to allow bus stands and turning.  Twyford needs 
further car parking but the railway land is limited with road access through a 
conservation area and then under an awkward bridge.  Car park capacity has been 
inadequate for a number of years.   Car parking and a transport interchange has been 
the subject of discussions between GWR and Wokingham Borough Council and it is 
hoped to address this issue early in 2018 

 Crowthorne – This station is just within Bracknell Forest but, as a result of a limited 
capacity station car park, there are problems with on-street parking in Wokingham 
Borough.   We will work with Bracknell Forest and GWR to consider the provision of 
more parking and the interface with bus services that currently do not exist.  We wish 
to see access to the station made easier as well as a greater frequency of services from 
the station.

14d. Improved by timetable interventions or physical work?  To an extent both and we liaise 
with bus operators but mainly through physical work.

14e. Relevance of best practice elsewhere?  It would be arrogant not to seek lessons from 
best practice elsewhere.

Consultation Question 15.  Fares, Ticketing and Marketing.

15a(i) Agree Priorities for fares?  Yes.

15a(ii) Agree priorities for ticketing?  Yes.

15b. Changes to the fares structure? Addressing the anomalies of split ticketing so as not to 
disadvantage the passenger.

Consultation Question 16.  Community Rail Partnerships.  Although we have no CRPs in 
Wokingham Borough, we consider that GWR has been extremely supportive of CRPs 
elsewhere in the franchise and ridership on the majority of these lines has increased 
significantly.

Consultation Question 17.  Investing in the workforce.  Our impressions are that GWR 
develops its workforce, fully embraces the concept of modern apprenticeships and does 
everything reasonably possible to encourage wider industry skills.

Consultation Question 19.  Conclusions.

19a. Any other priorities to be addressed?  No.

19b. The most urgent priorities for period 2020 to 2022?  Wokingham Borough Council’s 
priorities are:

Page 18



 Operational performance.
 Upgrading the North Downs Line.
 Improving Twyford Station and developing plans for a station at Grazeley. 

19c. Initiatives not currently offered that could be provided through improved technology?  
None.

19d. Promotion of equality of Opportunity for people with:

a. Disabilities.?   Improvements to stations as already covered in Question 13.
b. Other protected characteristics?  As above. 

19e. Any other comments?  No.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Great Western Rail Franchise 
Public Consultation

Moving Britain Ahead

November 2017
Page 21



Page 22



Great Western Rail Franchise 
Public Consultation

Moving Britain Ahead

Page 23



The Department for Transport has actively considered the needs of blind and partially sighted 
people in accessing this document. The text will be made available in full on the Department’s 
website. The text may be freely downloaded and translated by individuals or organisations for 
conversion into other accessible formats. If you have other needs in this regard please 
contact the Department.

Department for Transport 
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London SW1P 4DR 
Telephone 0300 330 3000 
General enquiries https://forms.dft.gov.uk 
Website www.gov.uk/dft

© Crown copyright 2017

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

You may re-use this information (not including logos or third-party material) free of charge in 
any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0. To view this 
licence visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3 or 
write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or 
e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

Where we have identified any third-party copyright information you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned.

ISBN:978-1-84864-197-6

Page 24

https://forms.dft.gov.uk
mailto:www.gov.uk/dft?subject=
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
mailto:psi%40nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk?subject=


3

Contents

Secretary of State’s Foreword 4

Executive summary 6

1. The current franchise and improvements to be completed by 2020 8

2. The franchise through the 2020s 16

3. Key structural choices for the next franchise 21

4. Key priorities for the franchise specification 32

5. Responding to the consultation 51

6. Next steps 55

Photographs courtesy of Great Western Railway, the Devon & Cornwall Community Rail 
Partnership and Atrium Insights.

Network map courtesy of Great Western Railway.Page 25



4

Secretary of State’s Foreword

Great Western is one of the largest and most diverse of Britain’s rail franchises, providing 
a mix of local, regional and InterCity services across a wide area spanning southern and 
south west England, South Wales, the Cotswolds and the Malverns. It plays a crucial role in 
supporting economic prosperity, connecting communities and helping to meet people’s day-
to-day travel needs for commuting, business, leisure and access to public services.

Ever since Brunel first conceived it, the Great Western railway has been closely associated 
with ambition and innovation. Through its history it has changed continuously to meet the 
evolving needs of the passengers and communities it serves. This is as true today as it ever 
has been. Indeed, right now the Great Western railway is in the midst of the most ambitious 
programme of change in its lifetime.

Brand-new electric trains are already transforming journeys on suburban services between 
Maidenhead and London Paddington and will soon be operating as far as Reading and 
Didcot. Their introduction is also releasing more trains for use in the West Country, providing 
more seats and space for passengers; the first of these trains are already in service in the 
Bristol area and more will follow early in the New Year. Just last month saw the first operation 
in passenger service of state-of-the-art new InterCity Express Trains between London, 
Bristol and South Wales. By 2019 they will be operating across the whole of the Great 
Western intercity network providing more seats, faster journeys and a truly modern on-board 
environment for passengers. In December 2019 the Elizabeth Line will deliver another step 
change, providing fast new links to the West End, the City of London and Canary Wharf.

These transformational changes are not the end of the story and we are now preparing for 
Great Western’s next chapter. At the same time as launching this consultation, I am also 
publishing the Government’s Strategic Vision for Rail. That Vision explains how we will work 
with the rail sector to place passengers at the heart of decision-making across the industry 
to deliver the best possible journey experience for passengers, create new opportunities for 
our economy and our communities and improve value and efficiency. In particular, the Vision 
describes the reforms this Government will implement to bring together the organisations 
responsible for railway lines and train services so that they work collaboratively under a 
common statement of principle: putting the passenger first.

Page 26



5

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

This consultation develops those themes in the context of the future of Great Western. 
Now is the time to be asking big questions about how this franchise can best meet the needs 
of passengers and communities in the 2020s and beyond. In the consultation, we invite 
your views on whether Great Western should be retained as a single franchise in essentially 
its current form or whether we should split it into smaller parts, each with a sharper focus 
on meeting the needs of passengers in its own local areas. We also seek views on what 
should be the priority areas for future efforts to integrate ‘track’ and ‘train’ operations through 
strengthened partnerships. We will be taking the time to listen to your responses, to ensure 
that we design a future franchise – or franchises – that will put the interests of passengers 
first. This is why we will be seeking to agree terms for Great Western Railway, the current 
operator, to continue operating the franchise for a further short period while we address 
these crucial questions.

The future of the Great Western franchise will be shaped by passengers and by local 
priorities for change across the whole of the franchise area. The current operator has a 
track record of partnership with local authorities and other promoters of local train service 
improvements and we will expect the franchise to maintain and expand this important role 
in future. The Government will continue to work closely with local partners to deliver the 
MetroWest scheme (in the Bristol area).  We will also require the franchisee to develop plans 
to trial regular services on the route between Okehampton and Exeter, as well as engaging 
with local groups such as the Peninsula Rail and North Cotswold Line Task Forces.

This consultation is a real opportunity to shape the future of the Great Western railway as we 
look beyond the current programme of change and into the 2020s. If you have an interest in 
the future of this railway, I want to hear your views and I urge you to respond.

The Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP, 
Secretary of State for Transport.

Page 27



6

Executive summary

Introduction
1. This document sets out proposals for improving train services on the Great Western rail 

network after the current franchise ends. We are running this consultation to help us 
identify passengers’ most pressing priorities for improvements from 2020 onwards.

2. This is a consultation document, and we would like to hear your views on the service 
now as well as your thoughts on how to improve it for the future. Please read this 
consultation document all the way through, and then give us your answers to the 
questions in the response form provided on our website. You can respond online or via 
email, or fill out the response form and post it to us. Full details are shown in Chapter 5. 
We must receive your response by 21 February 2018.

Background and context
3. The Great Western franchise is one of the largest and most diverse rail franchises in 

Great Britain. It is currently undergoing the most substantial programme of 
improvements in its history. Thanks to a multi-billion pound investment in new trains, 
electrification and other infrastructure enhancements, as well as investment by the 
current franchise operator, the service will have been transformed by the end of 2019. 
Virtually every route will receive some kind of improvement: for example new or more 
modern trains, more seats and space for passengers, more frequent or faster journeys, 
improved station and parking facilities, and on-train wi-fi. Onward connections across 
London will be transformed by the introduction of Crossrail services, linking Reading, 
Maidenhead, Slough, Heathrow Airport and Paddington directly to the West End, the 
City and Canary Wharf. 

Continuing with the current franchise operator
4. The current franchise is due to expire in March 2019. A change of franchise operator is 

best avoided at this time, as it falls in the midst of a major programme of change. We 
consider that there is also considerable benefit, both for passengers and for taxpayers, 
in allowing a short period for the new trains and timetables to bed in before we 
commence a competition for a new long-term franchise. We therefore intend to exercise 
our contractual option to extend the current franchise for a further twelve months, and 
to begin discussions with the current franchise operator with a view to them continuing 
to operate the franchise for a further two years – i.e. until March 2022. The rationale for 
this decision is described more fully in Chapter 3 but we are clear that, if we conclude 

Page 28



7

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

that we cannot secure substantial passenger benefits at an acceptable price for the 
taxpayer, we will retain the option to revert to a competition.

5. We have also been considering whether the franchise should be retained in its current 
form, or whether passengers’ interests would be best served by splitting it into two (or 
potentially more) separate franchises, each with a stronger focus on meeting the needs 
of a particular market or geographical area. We are inviting views on a specific proposal 
for a possible two-way split and, subject to the outcome of this consultation, we could 
require the current franchisee to undertake the necessary preparations during the 
franchise period up to 2022 for a subsequent split.

Integration of “track” and “train”
6. Alongside this consultation document, the Government is publishing its Strategic Vision 

for Rail. This describes the Government’s approach to bringing together the 
organisations responsible for operating the track and the trains, with a shared focus on 
putting the passenger at the heart of decision-making. A key priority for the Great 
Western continuation period will be to drive forward this agenda, building on the 
progress already made through the existing Alliance Framework Agreement between 
the franchise operator and Network Rail.

Priorities for passengers
7. Although passengers’ experience of the Great Western franchise will continue to be 

transformed in 2018 and 2019, we need to look further into the future and begin to plan 
now for the improvements that will be needed in the 2020s. We have already 
undertaken a substantial programme of informal discussions with a wide range of 
interested parties across the franchise area, and this document outlines a range of 
potential future priorities based on what we have learned from those discussions. Some 
relate to the train service and timetables themselves, while others concern the many 
other aspects of the service provided by any train operator that contribute to the 
passenger’s overall journey experience. Through this consultation process, we would 
like to invite views on which of these areas should be the highest priorities for securing 
further improvements in the proposed continuation period and during the period of a 
potential future franchise beyond 2022.

Page 29



8

1.  The current franchise  
and improvements to be  
completed by 2020

Page 30



9

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Overview
1.1 The current Great Western franchise was formed in 2006 by combining services from 

three separate franchises: Great Western Trains, Wessex Trains and Thames Trains. The 
franchise is now one of the largest and most geographically diverse on the GB rail 
network and covers services across a wide area of the Thames Valley, the Cotswolds, 
South Wales, Bristol and the South West. Services fall into three distinct service groups 
as follows:

●● Thames Valley: Primarily commuter services between London Paddington, Slough, 
Reading, Oxford, Newbury and Bedwyn, including the branches to Greenford, 
Windsor, Marlow and Henley, the Paddington – Hayes & Harlington leg of the 
Paddington – Heathrow Airport ‘Heathrow Connect’ service; and the Reading – 
Gatwick Airport service. This service group also includes the significant commuter 
flows to Reading, Slough and other towns in the region.

●● High Speed: Long distance services from London Paddington to Bristol, South 
Wales, Worcester, Hereford, Cheltenham, Gloucester and the South West, covering 
commuter, business and leisure travel to and between these towns and cities, and 
the Paddington – Cornwall Sleeper.

●● Western: Local services within the South West, including the branch lines in Devon 
and Cornwall, covering both local journeys and connections to longer distance 
services; local services in the Bristol ‘travel to work’ area, regional services between 
Cardiff, Bristol, Portsmouth and Weymouth and the Swindon – Westbury 
‘TransWilts’ route.

1.2 Owing to the diverse nature of the franchise, there is a considerable mix of commuting, 
business and leisure travel across the network, and a single train can fulfil several 
different functions e.g. a Bristol – Paddington train providing business travel from Bristol 
and a commuter service from Swindon or Didcot.

1.3 A large number of freight services also operate across the franchise network, and this is 
set to grow further in the future. These services play a vital role in moving goods around 
the country and helping to reduce the number of lorries on our roads. Particularly 
important flows include container trains from Southampton towards the Midlands, North 
West and Scotland via Reading and Oxford, carrying consumer goods to distribution 
centres in one direction and goods for export in the opposite direction, and trains carrying 
stone from the Mendip quarries to London and the South East for use in construction 
projects. Other important flows include steel and steel products to and from South Wales, 
and finished cars from Oxford and Swindon for export.

Page 31



10

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

B
ar

n
h

am

Eal
in

g B
ro

ad
w

ay
G

re
en

fo
rd

M
ar

lo
w

H
en

le
y-

on
-T

h
am

es

M
ai

den
hea

d

T
w

yf
or

d

Hay
es

 &
 H

ar
lin

gto
n

R
ed

h
il

l G
at

w
ic

k
A

ir
p

or
t

G
u

il
d

fo
rd

Did
co

t P
ar

kw
ay

Sw
in

d
on

O
xf

or
d

B
an

b
u

ry

W
or

ce
st

er
 Sh

ru
b H

ill

H
er

ef
or

d

B
as

in
g

st
ok

e

C
h

ip
p

en
h

am

N
ew

b
u

ry

P
ew

se
y

M
el

ks
h

am

Bat
h Sp

a

G
lo

u
ce

st
er

W
or

ce
st

er
 F

or
eg

at
e S

tre
et

B
ri

st
ol

P
ar

kw
ay

N
ew

p
or

t
B

ri
d

g
en

d

Por
t T

al
bot

 P
ar

kw
ay

Nea
th

Sw
an

se
a

C
ar

m
ar

th
en

P
em

b
ro

ke
 D

oc
k

W
es

to
n

-s
u

p
er

-M
ar

e

W
es

tb
u

ry
F

ro
m

e

C
as

tl
e 

C
ar

y

D
or

ch
es

te
r 

W
es

t

W
ey

m
ou

th

Y
eo

vi
l P

en
 M

il
lSa

li
sb

u
ry

So
u

th
am

p
to

n
C

en
tr

al

W
ar

m
in

st
er

R
om

se
y

E
as

tl
ei

g
h

H
ed

g
e 

E
n

d
B

ot
le

y

F
ar

eh
am

H
av

an
t C

h
ic

h
es

te
r

B
ri

g
h

to
n

Hig
hbrid

ge &
 B

urn
ham

Brid
gw

at
er

T
au

n
to

n

T
iv

er
to

n
 P

ar
kw

ay

B
ar

n
st

ap
le

E
xe

te
r 

St
 D

av
id

s

E
xe

te
r 

C
en

tr
al

N
ew

to
n

 A
b

b
ot

T
or

q
u

ay

P
ai

g
n

to
n

T
ot

n
es

Ply
m

ou
th

Lo
oe

Lisk
ea

rd

P
ar

F
al

m
ou

th
 D

oc
ks

Tru
ro

P
en

za
n

ce

G
u

n
n

is
la

ke

N
ew

q
u

ay

St
 Iv

es

St
 E

rt
h

R
ea

d
in

g

N
or

th
 C

am
p

 D
or

kin
g (D

ee
pden

e)

Rei
gat

e

P
or

ts
m

ou
th

 &
 S

ou
th

se
a

Y
at

e

B
ra

d
fo

rd
-o

n
-A

vo
n

T
ro

w
b

ri
d

g
e

Sl
ou

g
h

W
in

d
so

r 
&

 E
to

n
 C

en
tr

al

Act
on

 M
ai

n L
in

e

W
es

t E
al

in
gD

ra
yt

on
 G

re
en

C
as

tl
e 

B
ar

 P
ar

k

So
u

th
 G

re
en

fo
rd

Han
w

el
l

W
es

t D
ra

yt
on

Iv
er

Lan
gle

y

Burn
ham

Tap
lo

w

B
ou

rn
e 

E
n

d

C
oo

kh
am

F
u

rz
e 

P
la

tt
W

ar
g

ra
ve

Sh
ip

la
ke

W
in

n
er

sh

W
ok

in
g

h
am

C
ro

w
th

or
n

e

Sa
n

d
h

u
rs

t

B
la

ck
w

at
er

F
ar

n
b

or
ou

g
h

 N
or

th

A
sh

W
an

b
or

ou
g

h

Sh
al

fo
rd Chilw
or

th Gom
sh

al
l

Dor
kin

g W
es

t

Bet
ch

w
or

th

M
or

ti
m

er

B
ra

m
le

y

R
ea

d
in

g
 W

es
t

T
h

ea
le

A
ld

er
m

as
to

n
M

id
g

h
am

T
h

at
ch

am
N

ew
b

u
ry

 R
ac

ec
ou

rs
e

K
in

tb
u

ry
H

u
n

g
er

fo
rd

B
ed

w
yn

Tile
hurs

t

Pan
gbou

rn
e

Gor
in

g &
 St

re
at

le
y

Chol
se

y

A
p

p
le

fo
rd

C
u

lh
am

R
ad

le
y

Han
bor

ou
gh

Com
be

Fin
st

oc
k

Char
lb

ury
Asc

ot
t-u

nder
-W

yc
hw

oo
d

Sh
ip

to
n

Kin
gham

Hon
ey

bou
rn

e

Eve
sh

am

M
al

ve
rn

 L
in

k

Gre
at

 M
al

ve
rn

Col
w

al
l

Led
bury

C
h

el
te

n
h

am
 S

p
a

A
sh

ch
u

rc
h

fo
r 

T
ew

ke
sb

u
ry

K
em

b
le

St
ro

u
d

St
on

eh
ou

se
C

am
 &

 D
u

rs
le

y

A
vo

n
cl

if
f

F
re

sh
fo

rd

K
ey

n
sh

am

St
ap

le
to

n
 R

oa
d

La
w

re
n

ce
 H

il
l

B
ri

st
ol

T
em

p
le

 M
ea

d
s

M
on

tp
el

ie
r

Red
la

nd

Se
a 

M
il

ls

Sh
ir

eh
am

p
to

n

A
vo

n
m

ou
th

St
 A

n
d

re
w

s 
R

oa
d

Se
ve

rn
 B

ea
ch

Lla
nel

li

Fer
ry

sid
e

B
ed

m
in

st
er

P
ar

so
n

 S
tr

ee
t

N
ai

ls
ea

 &
 B

ac
kw

el
l

Y
at

to
n

W
or

le
W

es
to

n
 M

il
to

n

P
at

ch
w

ay

P
il

n
in

g

Se
ve

rn
 T

unnel
 Ju

nct
io

n

B
ru

to
n

N
ew

to
n

 S
t 

C
yr

es
C

re
d

it
on

C
h

ap
el

to
n

Sa
m

p
fo

rd
 C

ou
rt

en
ay

O
ke

h
am

p
to

n

U
m

b
er

le
ig

h
P

or
ts

m
ou

th
 A

rm
s

K
in

g
s 

N
ym

p
to

n
E

g
g

es
fo

rd
La

p
fo

rd
M

or
ch

ar
d

 R
oa

d
C

op
p

le
st

on
e

Y
eo

fo
rd

St
 J

am
es

’ P
ar

k

D
ig

b
y 

&
 S

ow
to

n
N

ew
co

u
rt

T
op

sh
am

T
or

re

Ly
m

p
st

on
e 

C
om

m
an

d
o

Ly
m

p
st

on
e 

V
il

la
g

e

E
xm

ou
th

E
xe

te
r 

St
 T

h
om

as
St

ar
cr

os
s

D
aw

li
sh

 W
ar

re
n

D
aw

li
sh

T
ei

g
n

m
ou

th

Iv
yb

ri
d

g
e

D
il

to
n

 M
ar

sh

C
os

h
am

So
u

th
am

p
to

n
A

ir
p

or
t 

P
ar

kw
ay

F
ra

tt
on

W
or

th
in

g

Sh
or

eh
am

-
b

y-
Se

a

H
ov

e

St
 B

udea
ux

Vict
or

ia
 R

oa
d

B
er

e 
F

er
re

rs

B
er

e 
A

ls
to

nC
al

st
oc

k

Dev
on

por
t

Doc
kya

rd

Key
ham

Hay
le Cam
bor

ne
Red

ru
th

F
al

m
ou

th
 T

ow
n

P
en

m
er

e

P
en

ry
n

P
er

ra
n

w
el

l

St
 A

u
st

el
l

Los
tw

ith
ie

l

Bod
m

in
 P

ar
kw

ay

E
xt

on

St
 B

udea
ux

Fer
ry

 R
oa

d

St
 G

er
m

an
s

M
en

hen
io

t

Sa
lta

sh

C
au

se
la

n
d

C
oo

m
b

e 
Ju

n
ct

io
n

 H
al

t

St
 K

ey
n

e
W

is
h

in
g

 W
el

l H
al

t

Sa
n

d
p

la
ce

Lu
xu

ly
an

B
u

g
le

R
oc

h
e

St
 C

ol
u

m
b

 R
oa

d

Q
u

in
tr

el
l D

ow
n

s

C
ar

b
is

 B
ay

Le
la

n
t

Le
la

n
t 

Sa
lt

in
g

s
T

h
or

n
fo

rd

Y
et

m
in

st
er

C
h

et
n

ol
e

M
ai

d
en

 N
ew

to
n

U
p

w
ey

Pem
bre

y &
 B

urry
 P

or
t

Kid
w

el
ly

W
h

it
la

n
d

N
ar

b
er

th

K
il

g
et

ty

Sa
u

n
d

er
sf

oo
t

T
en

b
y

P
en

al
ly

M
an

or
b

ie
r

La
m

p
h

ey

P
em

b
ro

ke

K
in

g
s 

Su
tt

on

H
ey

fo
rd

T
ac

kl
ey

F
il

to
n

 A
b

b
ey

 W
oo

d

Great Western Railway summer only service

Per
sh

or
e

M
or

et
on

-in
-M

ar
sh

C
ar

d
if

f
C

en
tr

al C
li

ft
on

 D
ow

n

P
or

ts
m

ou
th

 H
ar

b
ou

r

Lon
don

 P
ad

din
gto

n

P
ol

sl
oe

 B
ri

d
g

e

So
uth

al
l

A
 m

ap
 s

ho
w

in
g 

th
e 

ar
ea

 c
ov

er
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

fra
nc

hi
se

 is
 s

ho
w

n 
be

lo
w

: 

Page 32



11

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

The franchise at a glance 
Train services operated each weekday 1580

Passenger journeys (2015/2016) 104 million

Growth in passenger numbers since 
2011/2012

2.1% per annum (some lines have shown much 
higher growth)

Stations served 265, of which GWR operates and manages 205

Total revenue (2015/2016) £925 million

Split of fares by ticket type 
(2015/2016)

Season tickets: 14%
Full fare: 31%
Reduced fare: 54%

Average journey length (2015/2016) 35 miles

Fleet size (at September 2017) 228 train sets, a mixture of HST sets, hauled 
coaches, and diesel and electric units

Transforming the Great Western Service
1.4 Network Rail, the current franchise operator and other industry partners are working 

together to deliver the Great Western route’s biggest modernisation programme since 
Victorian times. Much of the franchise will be transformed beyond recognition: most 
routes have received, or will soon receive, brand-new or more modern trains, with more 
seats and space for passengers; many will see more frequent, more regular and/or 
faster journeys. The following table provides further details.Page 33



12

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Service 
Group

Benefits provided by  
January 2018

Benefits provided in 2018 and 2019

Thames 
Valley

●● New electric trains introduced 
between Paddington and 
Hayes & Harlington from 
September 2016, and 
between Paddington and 
Maidenhead from May 2017 
with air conditioning, at-seat 
power sockets and free wi-fi, 
and providing 40% more 
seats for passengers

●● Introduction of new electric 
trains between Paddington, 
Reading and Didcot Parkway 
in January 2018, with air 
conditioning, at-seat power 
sockets and free wi-fi, and 
providing 40% more seats for 
passengers 

●● Regular half-hourly service 
introduced in May 2017 on 
the Henley-on-Thames 
branch

●● Introduction of new electric trains 
between Paddington and Newbury, 
with air conditioning, at-seat power 
sockets and free wi-fi, and with 8 
carriages compared to a maximum of 
6 currently

●● Introduction of Crossrail services, 
linking Reading, Maidenhead and 
Heathrow Airport directly to the West 
End, the City of London and Canary 
Wharf, with journey times from 
Paddington of 10 minutes to Liverpool 
Street and 17 minutes to Canary Wharf

●● New, longer trains on Crossrail 
services, providing space for up to 
1500 passengers on each train

●● Station improvements at stations 
served by Crossrail services, with step 
free access to platforms at all stations 
served by Crossrail trains

●● Doubling of frequency on stopping 
services between Paddington and 
Heathrow Airport

●● Introduction of new 125 mph bi-mode 
intercity trains between Paddington 
and Oxford, providing approximately 
100 more seats than current trains

●● Introduction of new 125 mph bi-mode 
intercity trains between Paddington and 
Bedwyn, maintaining through services, 
and which will have air conditioning, 
at-seat power sockets and free wi-fi, 
and up to 10 carriages at peak periods 
compared to a maximum of 8 on 
current peak hour services

●● New multi-storey car park at Didcot 
Parkway completed by autumn 2018 
providing 1800 spaces

Page 34



13

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Service 
Group

Benefits provided by  
January 2018

Benefits provided in 2018 and 2019

High 
Speed

●● Introduction of new Intercity 
Express bi-mode trains 
between Paddington, Bristol 
Cardiff and Swansea in 
October 2017, providing 
better quality facilities and up 
to 24% more seats than a 
typical InterCity 125 train

●● Modernisation of the 
carriages used on the ‘Night 
Riviera’ sleeper to give better 
facilities for passengers

●● 330 space car park extension 
at Kemble

●● Introduction of the full fleet of new 
Intercity Express bi-mode trains 
replacing the existing InterCity 125 
fleet and providing up to 24% more 
seats than a typical InterCity 125 train 
on services to Bristol, Cardiff, 
Swansea, Cheltenham, Worcester and 
Hereford

●● A new fleet of 36 intercity trains 
replacing the existing InterCity 125 
fleet on services between Paddington 
and the South West, with better quality 
facilities and providing approximately 
100 more seats than current trains

●● A doubling of frequency between 
Paddington and Bristol

●● Faster journeys between Paddington, 
Bristol and South Wales

●● Up to 40% more seats provided in the 
morning peak into Paddington

●● A regular hourly service from London 
to Exeter and Plymouth and a two- 
hourly service to Penzance

●● Hourly direct services between 
Paddington, Stroud, Gloucester and 
Cheltenham with longer trains with up 
to 24% more seats than a typical 
InterCity 125 train

●● A more regular service between 
Paddington, Pewsey, Westbury, Castle 
Cary and Exeter

●● Provision of new lounge and shower 
facilities at Penzance and Truro for 
sleeper passengers

Page 35



14

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Service 
Group

Benefits provided by  
January 2018

Benefits provided in 2018 and 2019

West ●● Introduction of longer and 
more modern trains on the 
Bristol – Severn Beach, 
Cardiff, Taunton, Great 
Malvern and Weymouth lines, 
providing more seats and 
space for passengers

●● Smart ticketing introduced on 
the Bristol – Severn Beach 
line

●● Introduction of longer trains on the 
Cardiff – Portsmouth and Plymouth 
– Penzance routes, and on many 
branch lines in Devon and Cornwall 
providing more seats and space for 
passengers

●● Introduction of a regular 2 trains per 
hour service between Plymouth and 
Penzance, with some trains extended 
to and from Exeter

●● Withdrawal of many of the oldest trains 
from the franchise, including the 
‘Pacers’

●● Introduction of 4 carriage InterCity 125 
trains on the Plymouth – Penzance 
route with power doors, modern toilets 
and facilities for passengers with 
disabilities

●● Construction of a multi-modal 
interchange at St. Erth

●● Introduction of additional trains on the 
Barnstaple line giving a better spread 
of morning peak arrivals and evening 
peak departures to and from Exeter

●● Regular 2 trains per hour service 
provided between Exmouth, Exeter 
and Paignton, operated by 4-car trains 
on many services, providing more 
seats and space

Page 36



15

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Service 
Group

Benefits provided by  
January 2018

Benefits provided in 2018 and 2019

Franchise 
wide

●● Introduction of free wi-fi on all 
trains being retained within 
the franchise after 2019

●● Introduction of a Customer & 
Communities Improvement 
Fund providing support for 
projects which benefit 
passengers and local 
communities

●● Provision of 2100 more car parking 
spaces

●● Fitting of at-seat power sockets on 
older trains being retained within the 
franchise after 2019

●● Provision of additional staff for 
passenger assistance at 15 stations

●● Introduction of a Station Development 
Match Fund to support developments 
at stations

●● Introduction of a Station Access Fund 
to support improvements in station 
access

Page 37



16

2.  The franchise through  
the 2020s

Page 38



17

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

2.1 Chapter 1 explained how the Great Western franchise will benefit from the major 
changes that will be implemented by the end of 2019. The first priority for the franchise 
in 2020 and beyond will be to ensure that it continues to deliver the intended benefits 
for passengers of the substantial investment currently taking place. However, we also 
need to start planning now to meet the further needs that are expected to arise in the 
2020s.

The opportunity
2.2 Demand for travel across the Great Western franchise has grown substantially in recent 

years – faster than the rail industry was expecting five or ten years ago, and there are 
good reasons to expect passenger numbers to continue growing significantly during the 
2020s, including:

●● Housing development, job creation and changes in population and employment 
distribution. Local authorities across the franchise area are planning for substantial 
house-building and job creation in their areas over the next twenty years. Many of 
these locations are close to existing or potential new railway stations. In addition, 
employment is becoming increasingly concentrated in locations accessible by rail, 
e.g. the Temple Meads area in Bristol, Sowton business park in Exeter or Green 
Park in Reading, and populations are becoming more concentrated in urban areas, 
which are easier to serve by public transport. 

●● Road traffic congestion. In many towns and cities around the Great Western 
franchise, local road networks are becoming increasingly congested, both during 
peak hours and at other times of the day. We are investing in improvements to local 
and national road networks, but, where congestion is already a problem, further 
population and employment growth may lead to rail becoming a more attractive 
alternative for many journeys, and there may be opportunities for rail to expand its 
role in park and ride provision in some towns and cities.

●● Trends in car ownership. While car ownership and usage continues to increase, we 
are seeing significant changes within different groups of society. The proportion of 
17 – 29 year olds holding a driving licence has been on a broadly level or falling 
trend for the past 20 years, and the proportion of journeys made by car in the 17 
– 39 age groups has declined since 2002, whilst that for rail journeys has increased. 
This presents a significant opportunity for rail and other public transport modes.

Page 39



18

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

The challenges
2.3 In common with the railway as a whole, these trends present significant challenges for 

the Great Western franchise, including:

●● Crowding: Rising passenger numbers over recent years have led to increasing levels 
of crowding. As described in Chapter 1, passengers across the franchise will see 
more seats and more carriages on busy routes over the next few years, but further 
action will be needed in the 2020s to ensure that there is sufficient space to carry 
rising passenger numbers.

●● Infrastructure capability: By 2020, much of the Great Western network will be 
operating at or close to the full capability of the railway infrastructure, especially at 
the times when people most want to travel. This will limit the scope to run more 
trains, although there will be opportunities for train lengthening on some routes, and 
an increasingly important role for new technology in making better use of the 
available network capacity. Rising demand for freight traffic adds further pressure. 
The rise in the number of trains operating has made it more difficult to maintain the 
high standards of reliability and punctuality that passengers expect, and tackling this 
will be a key priority in the period ahead.

●● Rolling stock: There is a limited supply of rolling stock across the GB rail network 
and, although over 6000 new carriages are being introduced to the network by 
2024, trains to operate on non-electrified routes are likely to remain in short supply 
as many existing diesel trains approach life-expiry. Addressing rising passenger 
demand on non-electrified routes is therefore likely to require additional trains, either 
through new-build or by applying innovative “bi-mode” technologies to existing 
trains. Hydrogen-powered trains will shortly start operation in regular service in 
Germany, and could also potentially be a solution. 

●● Funding: While the railway is experiencing unprecedented levels of investment, there 
will be a limit on the availability of public funds to invest in all potential upgrades to 
the rail network. Achieving the full potential of the Great Western franchise in the 
2020s will therefore require a wider range of funding sources than in the past. Since 
privatisation, private finance has supported investment in new trains for this 
franchise, and in the depot facilities that are needed to maintain them, e.g. the new 
Intercity bi-mode trains for services to the South West. We are also seeing 
increasing ambition amongst local authorities to bring together packages of funding 
using locally-available sources, including Local Growth Funding devolved by central 
government, e.g. the ‘MetroWest’ project for services around Bristol. Using a wider 
range of funding sources offers the potential to enhance rail infrastructure and train 
services more quickly than would be possible through central government funding 
alone.

Page 40



19

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

●● Resilience: People and businesses often rely on the railway, and local communities 
can be severely affected when parts of the network are cut off. Recent years have 
seen a number of weather-related events where critical parts of the Great Western 
network have been closed for significant periods, e.g. the collapse of the sea wall at 
Dawlish, flooding at Cowley Bridge (Exeter) and across the Somerset Levels, as well 
as locally-significant episodes such as floods blocking the Looe branch, and flooding 
at Hinksey and Chipping Sodbury. Improvements to the physical resilience of the 
network are considered through the Network Rail investment planning process, but 
there is a role for the franchisee in minimising the disruption to passengers during 
such events, working with Network Rail to restore services as quickly as possible 
and managing planned disruption, and collaborating with Network Rail on planned 
schemes to enhance network resilience.

Franchise objectives for the 2020s
2.4 Taking account of the opportunities and challenges outlined above, and the 

Government’s objectives for transport more generally, we propose the following core 
objectives for the Great Western franchise in the 2020s:

●● Provide safe, punctual and reliable services with enough seats and space for 
people who want to use them;

●● Focus on the needs of the travelling public to provide an excellent and 
continually-improving customer experience for all passengers, whatever their 
particular needs and abilities;

Page 41



20

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

●● Maximise the benefits for passengers from the current transformational 
investment in the Great Western railway network;

●● Maximise the contribution of the railway to driving local and regional 
economic growth, enabling planned growth in housing, and meeting the wider 
needs of citizens and society across the whole of the franchise area;

●● Be a responsible employer who invests in the welfare and the development of its 
workforce, motivating staff and equipping them with the right skills to provide the 
best possible customer service;

●● Strengthen the connection between the railway and the communities it 
serves, supported by strong relationships with all those who have an interest in the 
franchise and the services it provides;

●● Continue to improve the environmental performance of the railway and 
support wider environmental objectives by providing an attractive alternative to more 
polluting modes, and improving measures such as energy and water consumption 
and recycling;

●● Develop close collaborative working with Network Rail and other partners, 
bringing the operation of track and train closer together to deliver the best possible 
service for passengers and drawing in funding from the widest possible range of 
sources; 

●● Work with the Government and other agencies to support the development 
and delivery of other major rail investment schemes, such as the proposed 
western rail link to Heathrow, East-West Rail and the interface with HS2 at Old Oak 
Common; and

●● Operate efficiently, providing best value for taxpayers’ and passengers’ 
money, thereby ensuring the maximum possible resources are available for further 
service improvements.

CONSULTATION QUESTION 1: 

a)  To what extent do you agree or disagree with these objectives, and why?

–  Agree with the objectives

–  Agree with the majority

–  Disagree with the majority

–  Wholly disagree

b) Are there any priorities you would change or add, and if so why?
Page 42



21

3.  Key structural choices  
for the next franchise

Page 43



22

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

3.1 Chapter 2 outlined the key opportunities, challenges and objectives for the Great 
Western franchise in the 2020s. This Chapter considers some different approaches we 
might take to the next franchise in order to provide the best possible service for 
passengers and value for taxpayers, through the 2020s. It considers three key 
questions:

●● Should Great Western be retained as a single franchise, in essentially its current 
form, or split into two (or more) separate franchises?

●● How can we better integrate the activities of the franchisee (as train operator) and 
Network Rail (as network operator), to ensure that both parties work collaboratively 
to common objectives that put passengers’ interests first?

●● Given the context set out in Chapter 1, the objectives for the next franchise 
discussed in Chapter 2, and the two questions listed above, when is the best time 
to embark upon a competition for a new, long-term franchise?

Should Great Western be retained as a single franchise?
3.2 The Great Western franchise was formed in 2006 by combining services previously 

operated by the Great Western, Wessex and Thames Trains franchises. Combining 
these separate parts into a single franchise has brought significant benefits over the 
past decade, e.g. providing significantly better connections between main line and 
branch line services at interchange stations in Devon and Cornwall, but there are also 
reasons to believe that a different approach might be more effective in the period ahead; 
e.g. by allowing a better focus on the different markets in the franchise. The introduction 
of Crossrail services, which will take over most stopping services between Paddington 
and Reading, will also have a significant effect on the mix of services operated by the 
franchise between Paddington and Reading.

3.3 We are therefore considering whether the franchise should be retained in broadly its 
current form, or split into two (or more) smaller franchises. This would be a major 
organisational change, involving significant work and time for its effects to bed in, and 
we would only proceed with such a move if there are clear and demonstrable benefits 
from doing so. The following table summarises the main advantages and disadvantages 
of the different possible approaches.

3.4 In view of the potential benefits outlined in the table, we could require the franchisee to 
undertake the preparatory work that would be necessary to allow the franchise to be 
split when it falls due for replacement in 2022. Undertaking this preparatory work would 
not prejudge the future decision on whether to proceed with any split, which would 
need to be taken before procurement of that replacement franchise and which would 
need to take account of the views expressed in response to this consultation.

Page 44



23

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Approach Single franchise Two or more smaller franchises

Advantages ●● Coherent, integrated service 
for passengers. It is easier to 
coordinate timetables and 
offer good connections 
between services when they 
are being planned by a single 
operator.

●● Reducing duplication: An 
important part of the 
rationale for merging 
franchises in the first place 
was to provide a single 
operator on the busy 
approaches to Paddington 
station. This will change 
when Crossrail services start 
operating west of 
Paddington.

●● Efficiency: The costs of fixed 
overheads can be spread 
across a wider range of 
activities. 

●● Resilience: A larger 
organisation will typically 
have a larger pool of 
resources (financial, staff, 
rolling stock, etc.) to call 
upon in challenging 
circumstances.

●● Integration: Reduces the 
number of potential 
interfaces for external 
organisations when engaging 
with the railway industry.

●● Market focus: Potential for smaller 
franchises to give more attention 
and tailor services more closely to 
the individual routes and markets 
they serve. This may enable them 
to provide a better service and 
thus to increase passenger 
satisfaction and numbers more 
quickly. 

●● Attractiveness to the franchise 
bidding market: While this is not 
an end in itself, it is in passengers’ 
and taxpayers’ interests to see a 
healthy competition when a 
franchise is tendered. Recent 
franchise competitions have 
secured substantial passenger 
improvements at reduced cost to 
the taxpayer. By reducing the 
absolute amount of financial 
exposure within a single contract, 
it may be possible to attract a 
wider range of bidders and thus 
secure a better outcome from the 
competitive process.

●● Competition: Some options for 
splitting the franchise would result 
in direct competition on particular 
routes, which can allow more 
choice for passengers on service 
quality and/or fares.

Page 45



24

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Approach Single franchise Two or more smaller franchises

Disadvantages ●● Size and diversity: The Great 
Western franchise is 
extremely diverse in terms of 
the markets served. While 
the current franchisee has 
invested substantial 
management effort to meet 
the needs of all the different 
routes and markets it serves, 
this is harder to achieve in a 
large and diverse franchise.

●● Diseconomies of scale: 
There is some academic 
evidence to suggest the 
Great Western franchise may 
have grown larger than an 
optimally-efficient franchise, 
especially in such a 
geographically diverse 
network.

●● Scale of financial risk: Annual 
Great Western franchise 
revenues will soon be over 
£1 billion, meaning an 
increased risk that the scale 
of financial risk and exposure 
may be unattractive to 
prospective franchise 
bidders, which could reduce 
the number of potential 
bidders, resulting in it being 
more difficult to achieve the 
best outcomes for 
passengers and value for 
money for taxpayers from a 
franchise competition. 

●● Coordination: It may be more 
difficult to co-ordinate services 
between separate franchises, e.g. 
providing regular intervals between 
services or good connections. 
When Devon and Cornwall branch 
line services were separate from 
intercity services to London, there 
were poor connections between 
these service groups, which 
improved when the integrated Great 
Western franchise was formed. 
Separate franchises would create 
more interfaces for stakeholders, 
could make network operations 
more complex, and require 
agreement from more organisations 
for any changes required.

●● Complexity for passengers: Where 
multiple operators compete on the 
same route, the result can be a 
very complex fares structure and 
different standards of service. 
Competing operators may seek to 
time trains or individual station 
stops more to secure a competitive 
advantage than to provide a 
coherent service. There is a risk 
that the benefit of a choice of fares 
and service standards becomes 
outweighed by the complexity of 
the number of options available. 

●● Inefficiency: Fixed-cost overheads 
e.g. head offices, have to be 
spread across a smaller range of 
services.

●● Resilience: Smaller franchises 
focused on specific routes may be 
less well placed to respond to 
challenging circumstances. 

Page 46



25

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

3.5 As well as considering the potential benefits and drawbacks of splitting the current 
franchise, we have carried out some initial work to consider different ways in which the 
franchise could be split. Any split would need to result in franchises that are:

●● Coherent in terms of the markets and routes they would serve and the train fleets 
they would need to operate;

●● Clear and logical for passengers;

●● Large enough to be financially sustainable and efficient, but also small enough to be 
manageable and attractive to the franchise bidding market;

●● Operationally viable: Each separate franchise would need to have suitable depot 
facilities within its area, and ideally would maintain rolling stock fleets that are as 
homogenous as possible;

●● Minimise multiple interfaces for local authorities and LEPs interested in developing 
local rail services and stations, Network Rail and other stakeholders;

●● Minimise the potential for business units with multiple sets of staff terms and 
conditions.

3.6 The following map illustrates one possible option for a two-way split, comprising:

●● One franchise, coloured blue on the map below, concentrating on the intercity 
markets between London and Bristol, South Wales and the Cotswolds, outer 
suburban and branch line services in the Thames Valley, airport services and 
potentially future services using the proposed western rail link to Heathrow;

●● Another franchise, coloured red on the map below, providing long-distance services 
between London, Wiltshire, Somerset, Devon and Cornwall (including the Sleeper), 
together with regional and local services across the central and south-western parts 
of the franchise area, including potential future services to Portishead and other 
elements of the ‘MetroWest’ scheme. This could include the services between 
Paddington, Newbury and Bedwyn, as although they may be a good fit with other 
Thames Valley services, there could be potential for the Newbury and Bedwyn 
services to be integrated within the longer-distance intercity services that operate 
along the same route. 

Page 47



26

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

CONSULTATION QUESTION 2: 

a)  Do you agree or disagree with the proposals outlined above for splitting the Great 
Western franchise into smaller franchises?

–  Agree

–  Disagree

–  No opinion

b)   Why? 

Page 48



27

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

3.7 In addition to the question of whether the franchise should be split, we have also 
identified some potential options for changes to the geographic boundaries of the 
franchise. These options would remain relevant whether the franchise is retained as a 
single large, integrated franchise or split into smaller franchises. These options are:

●● The Greenford branch. Some stakeholders have questioned whether the Greenford 
branch is best served in future by the Great Western franchise or whether there could 
be a case for incorporating it into the Chiltern franchise, which is due to be re-let in 
2021. Chiltern operates a large fleet of similar diesel trains from its nearby depot at 
Wembley and could therefore be well placed to operate the service in future. 

●● Brighton. The current Great Western franchise operates a small number of through 
services from Brighton to Southampton, Salisbury, Bristol and beyond. While these 
services provide useful direct links to and from the south coast, they are infrequent and 
contribute to an irregular service pattern between Brighton, Chichester and 
Southampton. Transferring the Brighton-Southampton part of these services into the 
successor to the current Thameslink, Southern & Great Northern (TSGN) franchise 
could allow a more consistent and regular service pattern to be operated on this route. 
Electric trains could replace diesels between Southampton and Brighton, providing 
more seats than the Great Western franchise provides today and releasing diesel trains 
to provide more space for passengers on other core routes within the Great Western 
franchise. If GWR services to/from Brighton were to be withdrawn, we would require the 
TSGN franchise to maintain sufficient capacity between Brighton, Portsmouth and 
Southampton. Different arguments might apply on weekdays, when these services 
provide a commuter service to/from Brighton, and where services beyond Southampton 
may be less important; and at weekends, when these services may be more important 
for leisure passengers travelling longer distances who wish to avoid changing trains. 

CONSULTATION QUESTION 3: 

a) Giving reasons, do you agree or disagree with the options outlined above for:

●● Transferring Greenford branch services to the Chiltern franchise; 
– Agree 
– Disagree 
– No opinion

●● Transferring the existing Brighton-Southampton portion of the current Great Western 
Bristol – Salisbury – Southampton – Brighton service to the Thameslink, Southern and 
Great Northern franchise; 
– Agree 
– Disagree 
– No opinion

b)  What other locations or routes do you think should be considered for adding to the 
franchise or transferring to another franchise, and why?

Page 49



28

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

What more can be done to promote better integration between ‘track’ 
and ‘train’?
3.8 Close collaboration between Network Rail and franchise operators is critical in providing 

a safe and reliable service for passengers. Effective collaboration requires strong 
leadership to encourage and demonstrate the right behaviours, and a focus on 
passengers’ needs throughout each organisation, with an overall aim of achieving clear 
accountability, aligned objectives and collaborative working. The current franchisee and 
Network Rail’s Western Route have already made significant efforts in this direction, 
including through their Alliance Framework Agreement and setting up the Western 
Route Supervisory Board, comprised of Network Rail and representatives from the train 
operators on the route and a representative from Transport Focus.

3.9 Important aspects of collaboration between Network Rail and franchise operators 
include:

●● Day-to-day operations, where collaboration helps smooth operation of the railway. 
This is particularly important during disruptions, in order to provide clear and 
accurate information to passengers and to restore services as quickly as possible 
to minimise disruption;

●● Alignment of objectives and targets between the operator and Network Rail,  
e.g. on punctuality targets;

Page 50



29

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

●● Maintaining and improving the network: Network Rail needs access to the network 
to carry out maintenance and improvement work, meaning that there are times 
when passenger services cannot operate or are reduced in frequency. Current 
industry mechanisms for agreeing this access can result in opposing incentives for 
Network Rail and passenger operators. Collaboration can allow better ‘whole 
industry’ decisions to be made in the best interests of passengers, e.g. cutting back 
last services on some days of the week when demand is low to allow later services 
to operate on other days when demand for late-evening services is higher.

●● Planning and delivery of major enhancement schemes: Many more complex rail 
upgrade schemes require a combination of changes to the infrastructure, usually 
planned and carried out by Network Rail, and changes to the train service, which are 
the responsibility of the franchisee. Successful delivery depends on integrating these 
aspects throughout the enhancement scheme. Managing these interfaces in major 
enhancements can be challenging, especially where multiple organisations are 
involved, and any changes to one aspect of the project can have significant 
consequences for others. Successful delivery is aided by having a single party with 
overall accountability for achieving the intended outcomes of such schemes.

3.10 We will expect the next Great Western franchise to build further on the existing 
collaboration with Network Rail, which could include a stronger joint partnership 
approach to developing and designing future train service and infrastructure 
enhancement schemes.

CONSULTATION QUESTION 4: 

a)  What do you think are the main challenges that might be addressed through greater 
co-ordination and integration between the train operator and Network Rail?

b)  What do you think should be the future priorities for strengthened partnership working 
between the franchise operator and Network Rail?

When is the best time to run a franchise competition?
3.11 The current franchise expires on 31 March 2019. This is not an ideal time to plan for a 

potential change of franchisee as it falls in the middle of a major programme of change, 
which is scheduled to be completed by December 2019. The current franchise 
agreement includes an option to extend the franchise by a period of up to one year and 
we have already indicated in our published franchise schedule that we are likely to 
exercise this option. Maintaining the continuity of operator through this period would 
help to ensure that new trains and timetable changes are implemented as smoothly as 
possible, and that disruption to passengers during the upgrade works is reduced. We 
are now confirming that we will exercise this option. This will mean that the current 
franchise will run until April 2020.

Page 51



30

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

3.12 We originally assumed that we would run a competition for a new, long-term franchise 
to start in April 2020 when the current franchise expires. However, as we began our 
early preparations for the franchise competition, we identified a number of reasons why 
this would not be in the best long-term interests of passengers and communities served 
by the franchise. We saw a number of reasons why maintaining continuity of franchise 
operator, for a further period of approximately two years, could enable a better long-
term outcome for passengers:

●● For a franchise starting in April 2020, bidders would be preparing bids at a time of 
substantial change, and would have no information about how these changes will 
affect passenger demand. With such uncertainty, it is likely that bidders will be 
cautious, and an early competition may fail to secure the best possible bids; either 
less ambitious proposals for service enhancements, or a poorer bid price. The 
former results in fewer benefits for passengers, whilst the latter would mean a poorer 
deal for taxpayers. Preparing a bid at this time, if it chooses to bid, could be a 
distraction for the incumbent franchisee at a time when it is imperative for it to focus 
on ensuing that the complex changes during 2018 and 2019 are implemented 
successfully, with minimum disruption to passengers.

●● Network Rail’s infrastructure enhancement programme for 2019 onwards is not yet 
settled, and further development work is needed on a number of important potential 
projects within the Great Western franchise area before decisions to proceed with 
those projects can be made. The specification for a franchise starting in 2020 would 
need to be based on the known infrastructure capability for April 2020, but this 
could mean missing opportunities to secure train service enhancements through the 
competition. Deferring the competition by approximately 2 years could allow time for 
decisions to be taken on future enhancement schemes, allowing the intended 
benefits of such schemes to be secured through the next competition.

●● There are a significant number of potential enhancement schemes that are important 
locally, but may be difficult to prioritise amongst other national schemes in the early 
2020s. Where there is an appetite to identify local funding to introduce such 
schemes earlier, a further short franchise could enable local scheme promoters (with 
appropriate support from Network Rail, the franchisee and others) to develop 
proposals and funding packages for infrastructure enhancements in time to inform 
the service specification for the next franchise competition. 

●● In the event of a decision being taken to split the franchise, preparing for a split 
would involve substantial work, such as reorganising the franchise into standalone 
business units, with separate workforces, train fleets and contracts with suppliers. 
It would also take substantial time to complete effectively, especially to ensure 
meaningful discussions with the existing workforce and their representatives on the 
implications of a split. Continuing for a further period with the current operator would 
allow time for this to take place. It would be beneficial for the future competition for 
the franchise to have been split into separate business units with an established 
trading record. Page 52



31

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

3.13 We will therefore be starting discussions with the current franchise operator, with a view 
to negotiating terms for them to continue operating the franchise for a further two years 
from April 2020. We expect to include an option for the Department to extend by a 
further period of up to two years, consistent with the recommendations of the 
independent Brown review of franchising in 2012. This provides flexibility to cater for 
circumstances that cannot be foreseen at this stage, and to adapt the franchising 
schedule to maintain a steady flow of competitions.

3.14 We are not at this stage ruling out the possibility of running a competition for a new 
franchise to start in 2020, and we will preserve the option to revert to a competition if 
we cannot negotiate substantial benefits for passengers with the existing operator at an 
acceptable price for taxpayers.

Page 53



32

4.  Key priorities for the  
franchise specification

Page 54



33

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Introduction 
4.1 This Chapter sets out for consultation our emerging view of some specific priorities for 

the Great Western franchise specification through the 2020s, obtained through 
substantial discussions with stakeholders across the franchise area. We invite views on 
the priorities we have identified, and on which issues we should seek to progress most 
urgently within the anticipated two-year continuation period from April 2020. Where 
specifying particular enhancements could involve an increase in subsidy to the franchise 
or reduction in premium paid to government, we will need to be satisfied that the 
increased subsidy or premium foregone represents good value for money, and supports 
our long term objectives for the franchise.

Future train service and timetable development
Frequency enhancements
4.2 Our initial discussions with interested parties in the Great Western franchise area have 

identified a wide range of aspirations for frequency enhancements and other timetable 
improvements. In line with our normal approach, we will work closely with Network Rail 
to identify which aspirations could be feasible within the capability of the existing railway 
infrastructure without compromising performance, and which would require some form 
of physical infrastructure change. Our assessment will also need to consider 
compatibility with existing and likely future demand for freight services across the 
network.

4.3 Where potential frequency and other timetable enhancements are likely to be feasible 
within the existing infrastructure, we will also assess whether they are likely to provide 
sufficient benefits to justify any additional subsidy from the taxpayer, and would be 
affordable within the overall public funds available. We will use this analysis to inform the 
specification of our minimum train service requirements for the period from 2020 
onwards.

CONSULTATION QUESTION 5: 

(a) Which routes do you believe could benefit from improvements to train frequencies?

(b) What times of the day or week are these improvements needed?

(c) Why?

(d)  If the only way of achieving earlier first trains or later last trains was to curtail services at 
other times of the week or year so Network Rail can carry out essential maintenance, 
what times would you suggest?

Page 55



34

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

4.4 Where potential enhancements would require infrastructure change, it is unlikely that we 
could include them in the specification for a likely two year franchise term unless there is 
a clearly identified plan for funding and completing that infrastructure change. However, 
we believe that a key priority for the next franchisee should be to support the 
development of potential infrastructure enhancement schemes, including those 
promoted by local authorities or other third-party promoters, and to work with Network 
Rail on identifying sources of third-party funding. We will therefore consider how the 
specification for the next franchise can best support the development of locally-
promoted enhancement schemes, focusing on those proposals that meet a clearly-
identified local need, and that have realistic prospects of being prioritised by local 
funders and offering good value for money. Some examples are given below:

●● Peninsula Rail Task Force (PRTF):  A group comprising local authorities and local 
enterprise partnerships from across the south west peninsula, which has developed 
proposals around three key themes:  resilience and reliability, faster journey times 
and connectivity, and sufficient capacity and comfort.  Network Rail and the current 
franchisee have already been working together following publication of PRTF’s 
“Closing the Gap” report and we will expect further collaboration to inform future 
infrastructure decisions in these areas. 

●● MetroWest: A scheme being promoted by the West of England Combined Authority 
(WECA), to provide half-hourly services at most local stations in the Bristol area, as 
well as restoring passenger services to Portishead and opening other new stations. 
Subject to the local promoters deciding to proceed with this scheme, we will work 
with them to deliver the planned service enhancements. We are also examining the 
potential for the new MetroWest services to be extended beyond their currently-
planned termini, to serve Gloucester and Westbury. We will request proposals from 
the current franchisee to source the additional rolling stock that such extensions 
would require.

●● Devon Metro: A scheme promoted by Devon County Council to improve local rail 
services around Exeter, by constructing some new stations and providing more 
frequent and regular services on routes serving Exeter.

●● Okehampton: A scheme to start regular, year-round passenger services between 
Okehampton and Exeter, including a possible new station at Okehampton Parkway, 
as part of the wider “Devon Metro” concept. We will request proposals from the 
current franchisee to trial an all-week, year-round service on the Okehampton route.

●● Tavistock and Plymouth Metro: Devon County Council is leading a project to re-open 
a 5.5 mile stretch of disused railway line between Bere Alston and Tavistock, to 
enable the introduction of rail services between Tavistock and Plymouth, and 
Plymouth City Council and local partners have begun to consider how such a 
scheme could form part of a wider ‘Plymouth Metro’ concept.

Page 56



35

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

●● North Cotswold Line Task Force: This recently-established Task Force draws 
together local authorities and other partners with an interest in the North Cotswold 
route between Oxford, Worcester and Hereford. It aims to develop proposals for 
faster and more frequent journeys to and from London.

●● Bourne End: A scheme to remodel the track layout at Bourne End to enable a 
half-hourly direct service to operate between Maidenhead, Bourne End and Marlow.

4.5 There are also plans for a number of significant new rail links affecting the franchise 
which are likely to be completed in the 2020s, subject to decisions on funding. These 
are a new western link to Heathrow Airport, East-West Rail services between Oxford, 
Milton Keynes and Bedford, and a new interchange station with High Speed 2 and 
Crossrail services at Old Oak Common. We would expect to require the franchisee to 
co-operate with and support the development of these proposals.

CONSULTATION QUESTION 6: 

a)  Are you promoting a scheme for a new station or line which has a realistic prospect of 
being funded? If so, please provide brief details here

b)  What actions would you like the franchisee to undertake in order to support the 
development of this scheme?

Page 57



36

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Early morning, late evening and weekend services
4.6 Across the franchise area there are a number of routes where stakeholders have 

identified a need for:

●● Earlier first trains or later last trains;

●● Retention of ‘daytime’ frequencies further into the evenings;

●● Significant enhancements to weekend services, especially on Sundays, where the 
train service may have failed to keep pace with wider changes in people’s travel 
patterns at weekends; and

●● On routes dominated by seasonal holiday traffic, additional services at quieter times 
of year when a reduced service currently operates, reflecting greater overall demand 
and longer tourist seasons.

4.7 Together with Network Rail, we will review early, late and weekend service levels across 
the franchise and examine the case for specifying enhancements where existing service 
levels appear inadequate, and will consider whether we will require the operator to work 
with Network Rail to optimise the time required for engineering access.

Reducing journey times
4.8 As set out in Chapter 1, the introduction of new intercity trains will enable improvements 

in journey times on key long-distance routes during the term of the current franchise. 
There are also aspirations for further journey time improvements on some routes. We 
will explore the potential for any of these to be achieved within the proposed term of the 
next franchise, but in many instances such improvements would require either 
infrastructure change (usually dealt with through Network Rail’s business planning 
process) or significant reform to service structures.  

4.9 One prominent example is the Peninsula Rail Task Force’s (PRTF) aspiration for faster 
journeys between London and the south west peninsula. The current franchisee is 
already working closely with Network Rail to identify opportunities for incremental gains 
to journey times through targeted infrastructure interventions, though such opportunities 
would require new funding to implement. We would expect to see such collaboration 
continue, and ideally increase further.  

4.10 We are also aware that the PRTF’s aspirations have led to concerns that longer-distance 
journeys might in future be accelerated by omitting calls at intermediate stations along 
the route. In the first instance, we are therefore starting to explore whether there is any 
scope for longer-term changes to planned service structures that could enable faster 
longer-distance journeys, while also maintaining planned service frequencies at 
intermediate stations. We are also inviting views on how we can best strike the right 
balance between the interests of longer-distance passengers and users of intermediate 
stations along the route.

Page 58



37

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

CONSULTATION QUESTION 7: 

a)  Do you agree or disagree with reducing journey times to destinations in the South West 
by reducing stops at intermediate stations? 
– Agree 
– Disagree 
– No opinion

b)  Which services or stations would benefit or be disadvantaged by this approach?

 Why?

c)  Are there any specific locations or routes elsewhere where it could be appropriate to 
reduce station stops in order to speed up longer-distance journeys?

 Why?

Direct links and connections
4.11 Whilst passengers value being able to make direct journeys, some direct journeys may 

be provided more for operational reasons than because an identified market exists, e.g. 
linking of services together across Bristol between Great Malvern, Cardiff, Gloucester, 
Westbury, Weston-super-Mare, Taunton and Weymouth. In these cases, we are unlikely 
to perpetuate such cross-city linkages, and allowing the next franchisee flexibility to 
modify service patterns could be important in supporting future service improvements 
and efficient operations.

4.12 However, we recognise that there may be aspirations for a wider range of direct journey 
opportunities, particularly to and from London, and could require the franchisee to 
develop proposals for these for possible implementation in the franchise from 2022.

4.13 Where it not feasible to provide direct services, we will expect the franchisee to consider 
providing suitable connections between their own services where possible, e.g. 
between main line and branch line services in Devon and Cornwall. Where connections 
may be between different operators, we propose to build on the approach used in 
recent franchise competitions to seek greater collaboration with other operators and 
local stakeholders to identify the connections that matter most to passengers, and to 
coordinate their timetables where practicable to provide convenient connections.

Page 59



38

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

CONSULTATION QUESTION 8: 

a)  Which direct services such as those described above should be preserved in the next 
franchise?

 Why?

b)  Are there any other stations  between which you feel direct services should be 
provided?

 Why?

c)  At which locations should connections between different services  be improved?

 Why?

Seasonal and other exceptional demand for travel

4.14 Many routes served by the Great Western franchise experience substantial fluctuations 
in demand, e.g. during summer and other holiday periods, or associated with Christmas 
shopping, such as Bath or Bristol Christmas markets. 

4.15 For predictable, seasonal variations in travel demand, we anticipate that the train service 
specification for the next franchise will include some specific requirements, e.g. for 
changes to service patterns to reflect summer patterns of demand, continuing the 
current practice, unless there is a good reason to do anything differently. 

4.16 For special events, it is not feasible to include specific requirements about every event 
that might take place across such a wide franchise geography, but we will strengthen 
the requirement for the next franchisee to have a clear plan for how it will meet the 
needs of passengers travelling to and from special events, working with event 
organisers, the police and other local partners.

CONSULTATION QUESTION 9: 

What additional seasonal train services do you consider to be particularly important to 
retain or improve in the next franchise?

Why?

CONSULTATION QUESTION 10: 

What other train service enhancements do you believe should be considered for inclusion in the 
next franchise?

Why?

Page 60



39

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

CONSULTATION QUESTION 11: 

If you are a freight operator or represent the freight industry, please set out your expectations of 
likely future demand for freight capacity across the routes served by the franchise.

Seats and space for passengers
4.17 Passenger satisfaction surveys and discussions with stakeholders identify crowding as 

a key concern with the Great Western franchise. Current levels of crowding on some 
routes can be a significant barrier to further growth in passenger numbers, including in 
places where many people currently choose to travel by car. Therefore, there may be 
significant “suppressed demand”, i.e. passengers who would be willing to travel by rail if 
there was space for more passengers to travel in comfort. Whilst the changes being 
introduced as part of the existing franchise up until 2020 will provide significantly more 
seats and space for passengers, it is likely that rising demand beyond this will require 
additional rolling stock.

4.18 We propose that a key priority for the specification for the franchise through the 2020s 
should be to provide sufficient space for passengers, and to stimulate and 
accommodate future growth, and we would expect the franchisee to make progress 
against that objective during the two-year continuation period. We will also consider 
whether there is a case for providing additional carriages on the Paddington – Penzance 
‘Night Riviera’ sleeper, which stakeholders have told us is often very busy.

Rolling stock
4.19 By the end of the current franchise, a substantial amount of new rolling stock will have 

been introduced and some of the oldest trains currently operating on the franchise will 
have been replaced by more modern ones. Nevertheless, some of the trains which will 
remain at the end of the franchise were introduced in the late 1980s and early 1990s, 
and will therefore be approaching the end of their intended design life during the 2020s. 
A key issue for the franchise, therefore, will be to ensure that all rolling stock on the 
franchise meets modern standards of design, comfort and on-train facilities. For the 
older fleets remaining on the franchise, we envisage this requiring significant 
modernisation if they are to continue operating long into the 2020s.

4.20 Passenger expectations regarding the quality of rolling stock and the facilities provided 
are also rising, e.g. the provision of reliable free wi-fi and mobile connectivity has been 
highlighted by a number of stakeholders, and the provision of on-board CCTV is 
becoming more widespread as a means of helping to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour and enabling passengers to feel safer.

Page 61



40

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

4.21 We propose requiring the franchisee to identify, assess and advise on the options for 
the long-term future of the older diesel fleets that will remain in operation on the 
franchise after 2020, taking account of projected increases in demand and passengers’ 
expectations of a high-quality on-train passenger environment with modern facilities. 
We will also seek significant improvements in mobile connectivity across the franchise, 
including the introduction of minimum service levels for train-to-internet connectivity.

4.22 There are also differing views on the provision of First Class accommodation. In 
particular, there is a trade-off between providing First Class accommodation for those 
who want it, and providing sufficient seats and space for other passengers. Some 
stakeholders have also suggested that First Class accommodation could be appropriate 
for middle-distance services which do not currently provide this, subject to sufficient 
space being retained for standard-class passengers.

Page 62



41

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

CONSULTATION QUESTION 12: 

a)  What do you think are the main priorities that we should seek to address in relation to rolling 
stock?

b)  Are there any routes which do not currently have First Class accommodation where you 
think it should be provided?

c)  Should the franchisee provide specific services and facilities for a) business travellers or 
b) families travelling with children or c) other passengers? 

d)  If yes, please provide more information on what you think should be provided

e)  What benefits or disadvantages do you think innovative technologies for rolling stock, e.g. 
hydrogen or battery power, could bring?

f)  Are there any routes which would be particularly suitable for these types of innovative 
technology?

Reliability, punctuality and resilience
4.23 Passenger surveys show punctuality and reliability as key priorities for passengers on 

the Great Western franchise and across the rail network. Punctuality of train services is 
assessed against a measure that shows the percentage of trains that arrive at their 
destination within five minutes of the timetabled arrival (or within ten minutes for long 
distance services), and is known as the Public Performance Measure (PPM). The 
following table and graph show the performance of the franchise for the 12 months until 
31 March 2017 and performance over time, compared with data for relevant national 
sectors, both for the franchise as a whole and broken down by service group (Source: 
ORR). 

Page 63



42

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Public Performance Measure (year to March 2017)

Overall Great Western franchise: 88.4% All franchised operators: 91.0%

Thames Valley: 88.3% London & South East: 89.3%

High Speed: 83.4% Long Distance: 90.6%

West Regional: 91.7% Regional: 93.8%

Public Performance Measure (2007 to 2017)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Great Western

Great Western PPM

High Speed Thames Valley West Regional National

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

4.24 It can be seen that punctuality and reliability improved sharply in the early years of the 
franchise, but has been declining slowly over recent years, particularly as the network 
has become busier and during the significant upgrade work being carried out on many 
parts of the franchise area. Maintaining good standards of performance will continue to 
be a challenge which the franchisee will need to work with Network Rail to address.

4.25 We propose to specify challenging but realistic targets for the franchisee, based on the 
measures currently being developed by the industry for monitoring punctuality and 
reliability performance during the next regulatory Control Period (2019-2024), and 
including targets for short formations. It is likely that we would include financial 
incentives to give the franchisee a direct commercial interest in meeting or exceeding 
those targets. We propose to seek commitments to maintain and improve the resilience 
of the franchise’s operations in the next franchise period, e.g. by ensuring that it has 
appropriate contingency plans agreed with Network Rail and can implement them 
quickly in the event of disruption, as well as working collaboratively with Network Rail to 
support their work to improve the resilience of the physical infrastructure.

Page 64



43

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

The customer experience and stakeholder engagement
4.26 We want to see franchisees putting passengers’ needs at the heart of their business. 

Passenger satisfaction is measured by the twice-yearly National Rail Passenger Survey 
(NRPS), carried out by Transport Focus. The following table and graph show satisfaction 
with Great Western services in the Spring 2017 survey, and over time, compared with 
data for relevant national sectors, both for the franchise as a whole and broken down by 
service group (source: Transport Focus)

Overall Passenger Satisfaction (spring 2017)

Overall satisfaction with GWR services: 81% All franchised operators: 83%

Thames Valley: 78% London & South East: 82%

High Speed: 84% Long distance: 89%

West Regional: 84% Regional: 87%

Overall Passenger Satisfaction (2007 to 2017)

Spring
2007

Spring
2008

Spring
2009

Spring
2010

Spring
2011

Spring
2012

Spring
2013

Spring
2014

Spring
2015

Spring
2016

Spring
2017

Great Western

Great Western passenger satisfaction

High Speed Thames Valley West Regional All TOCs

70%

65%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

4.27 It can be seen that satisfaction rose during the early years of the franchise, but has 
since remained closer to the all-operator average.

4.28 Passengers’ expectations are rising, for example expecting to be consulted and 
informed on decisions which affect them and priorities for future development. 
Passengers also value the visible presence of staff on trains and at stations, and being 
provided with accurate and relevant information during disruption and fair compensation 
when things go wrong.

Page 65



44

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

4.29 We expect to specify standards for passenger satisfaction, including specific 
benchmarks for the areas which passengers have told us matter most to them, in line 
with those included in recent franchise competitions. We will consider requiring 
measures for gathering more detailed and frequent information on passenger 
satisfaction and sentiment, and for providing better information for passengers, 
particularly during disruption. In the event that the Delay Repay compensation scheme 
(including compensation for delays of 15 minutes and above) has not been introduced 
by the end of the current franchise, we will require proposals for it to be introduced 
during the continuation period. We will also require publication, at least twice a year, of 
regular Customer Reports and a Customer and Stakeholder Engagement Strategy that 
shows how the franchisee will engage with passengers and ensure that business 
decisions take account of the findings from that engagement.

4.30 We propose that the franchise specification should also require the franchisee to 
maintain and further improve its approach to stakeholder engagement of having 
dedicated Regional Development Managers, including ensuring sufficient high-quality 
staff are dedicated to this activity, and demonstrate how this engagement influences 
business decisions. We would expect the franchisee to make funding available to deliver 
Customer and Communities Improvement Schemes, maintaining similar arrangements 
to those provided within the current franchise.

Understanding the needs of passengers with disabilities
4.31 Passengers with disabilities can face significant challenges when travelling by rail, and at 

various stages of their journey. We are determined to continue making progress in 
breaking down these barriers to disabled people’s confidence in using rail transport.

4.32 We propose to seek commitments in the franchise for high-quality disability awareness 
training for public facing staff, recognising that there is a wide range of disabilities, not all 
of which are visible, and in being aware of the differing needs of individuals with different 
forms of disability. We will seek commitments for high-quality consultation specifically 
with disabled passengers, more systematic monitoring and reporting of the quality of 
service provided to passengers with disabilities and plans to act on the results of such 
reports. We will expect the franchisee to develop proposals for improving accessibility to 
and within stations.

CONSULTATION QUESTION 13: 

a) Which stations do you think should be a priority for improving accessibility?

b) Why?  

c)  What other improvements could help to make rail services easier to access and use for all 
passengers?

Page 66



45

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Stations
4.33 Stations, and the journey to and from them, are a key component of passengers’ overall 

journey experience. Stakeholders have highlighted a number of areas where the 
franchise specification could focus attention:

●● Improving station facilities. This includes the provision of seating, shelters, accurate, 
up-to-date information, improving accessibility for those with disabilities to and 
within the station, improving designs to allow a greater throughput of passengers, 
and maintaining safety and security. 

●● Improving car and cycle parking, particularly where a shortage of car parking spaces 
may be acting as a barrier to future growth, and a greater provision of electric car 
charging points.

●● Improving access for pedestrians and cyclists, with clear direction signs and safe, 
well-lit routes.

●● Improving accessibility, physical interchange and co-ordination between rail services 
and other modes of transport.

●● Working with local communities to bring disused station buildings back into 
community use, e.g. as cafes or community hubs.

●● Co-operating with local authority schemes for station improvements and 
redevelopment of the areas surrounding stations.

Page 67



46

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

4.34 We will consider the case for requiring the franchisee to set aside funds for station 
improvements, as we have done in some recent franchise competitions, and whether a 
portion of this should be dedicated for improvements at smaller stations.

4.35 We would also expect the franchisee to co-operate with locally-promoted schemes for 
station improvements and improvements to the areas around stations, and to continue 
work on developing station ‘master plans’ for some stations.

4.36 We expect to require the franchisee to develop proposals for better co-ordination with 
other transport modes, building on the approach used in recent franchise competitions, 
and will consider the case for encouraging the franchisee to develop and update more 
Station Travel Plans and make better use of them, in consultation with passengers and 
other local stakeholders. We will consider whether we should require the franchisee to 
provide more electric car charging points.

4.37 We will expect the franchisee to continue to improve security at stations, including areas 
such as staff awareness, availability of CCTV coverage and engagement with the 
Secure Stations Scheme.

CONSULTATION QUESTION 14: 

a)  Do you think these are the right priorities for stations in the new franchise? 

b)  Which priorities would you change or add, and why?

c)  At which stations do you think co-ordination between transport modes could be improved?

d)  How do you believe these areas could be improved, e.g. through timetabling connections or 
through physical works at the location?

e)  What do you believe are examples of best practice elsewhere which could be relevant for 
stations on the Great Western franchise network?

Fares, ticketing and marketing
4.38 Fares-setting on the future Great Western franchise will largely be driven by national 

fares policy. At present, approximately 45% of Great Western ticket revenue comes 
from fares that are regulated, for which individual fare increases are currently capped at 
inflation, as measured by the Retail Prices Index. Other aspects of the fares and 
ticketing regime are also guided by national policy, to maintain consistency across the 
national network, but the franchise specification could encourage or require the 
franchisee to:

●● Develop and promote the use of smart cards, contactless payment cards and 
mobile ticketing, and the range of tickets available by these means;

Page 68



47

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

●● Develop a wider range of tickets integrated with local buses and other modes, 
including co-operation with local authority smartcard schemes; 

●● Provide more ticket vending machines and ensure that these will offer the full range 
of fares available, in particular making these easier to use and making it easy to 
understand which is the most appropriate fare for the journey being made;

●● Address any anomalies in current fares arrangements, e.g. where fares on some 
routes might, for historical reasons, be being set by an operator who does not 
operate those routes, or are based on historical splits between different service 
groups;

●● Promote a wider range of local tourist attractions, e.g. through joint marketing and 
joint ticketing arrangements

CONSULTATION QUESTION 15: 

a)  Do you agree or disagree with these priorities for i) fares and ii) ticketing? 
– Agree 
– Disagree

 Which priorities would you change or add, and why? 

b) What changes to the fares structure could be of benefit to you?

Community Rail Partnerships 
4.39 There are a number of Community Rail lines on the Great Western franchise, with some 

routes showing significant increases in passenger numbers following improvements to 
services promoted by the relevant Community Rail Partnership (CRP).

Page 69



48

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

4.40 The current franchisee has provided active support for these Community Rail lines, e.g. 
by providing direct funding and additional funds for specific projects through the 
Customer & Communities Improvement Fund. The current franchisee also employs a 
full-time member of staff to work with the CRPs in the franchise area.

4.41 The Department strongly supports Community Rail, and has sought to promote an 
increase in community rail activity through recent franchise specifications. We see this 
as essential in further building and cementing public trust in the railway, and will build on 
the excellent community work that the current franchisee already does.

4.42 We propose to maintain, and, subject to affordability, increase the funding made 
available by the franchise to support community rail activities and the number of staff 
dedicated to engagement with the community rail sector. We also recognise the need to 
ensure that the process of accessing funding is as simple as possible, while ensuring 
good value from the money spent. 

CONSULTATION QUESTION 16: 

What more do you feel that the franchisee could be doing to help the Community Rail sector 
increase its contribution to society and the railway, for example in harnessing local community 
relations and outreach into the community?

Investing in the workforce and wider industry skills
4.43 Feedback from stakeholders has generally been positive regarding the knowledge and 

helpfulness of the current franchisee’s staff. We would wish to maintain and develop this 
strength. We want to ensure that people working on the franchise have the information, 
training and tools they need to assist and communicate effectively with all passengers, 
an environment they are proud of and enthusiastic to work in, and a genuine stake in 
the success of the railway in delivering for passengers. We also want to ensure that the 
franchise continues to play its part in supporting the wider development of skills across 
the rail industry. 

4.44 We propose that the franchisee should be required to have a clear workforce strategy, 
including:

●● Investing in the workforce, maintaining high levels of staff morale and trust in the 
business, ensuring that staff are well-motivated to provide a visible, high-quality 
service and to communicate effectively with passengers, and have the right 
equipment, support and training in order to do this

●● A commitment to wider rail industry skills development, including by creating 
apprenticeships in engineering and other disciplines and by seeking to attract under-
represented groups, and investing in the skills and abilities of front-line managers

Page 70



49

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

●● Addressing work-life balance and other employee well-being issues, including 
mental health, in all sections of the workforce

●● Resourcing plans that ensure sufficient front-line staff are available to operate the full 
timetable, even in challenging operating circumstances. 

CONSULTATION QUESTION 17: 

What more should the franchise do to invest in the workforce and wider industry skills?

Environmental impact
4.45 Rail franchises have an important part to play in helping to meet environmental 

objectives, both by providing people with an attractive alternative compared to other, 
more polluting modes of transport and by reducing their own environmental impact, e.g. 
by improving on-train or at station recycling. 

4.46 We propose that the franchise specification should include commitments to set and 
monitor performance against benchmarks for carbon dioxide emissions resulting from 
the operation of the trains themselves, non-traction energy consumption, waste to 
landfill and water consumption.

Conclusion
4.47 This Chapter has identified a substantial number of potential priorities to be addressed 

through the 2020s. We need to consider which of these priorities should be addressed 
most urgently during the two-year continuation period from April 2020, as well as those 
that we should seek to pursue in the longer term. We would face a similar choice if we 
were running a competition for the franchise from 2020, as there is a limit to how much 
any franchise – whether competed or not – can deliver in a two-year period.

Page 71



50

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

CONSULTATION QUESTION 18: 

a)  Are there any other priorities you would wish to see addressed?

b)  Which of the priorities identified in Chapter 4 do you think should be pursued most urgently 
in the period between 2020 and 2022? 

c)  What initiatives not currently offered can, in your opinion, be provided through improved 
technology to meet the changing requirements of passengers?

d)  In what ways do you think that the franchise could promote equality of opportunity for people 
with:

 – disabilities?

 – other protected characteristics within the meaning of the Equality Act 2010?

e) Do you have any other comments?

Page 72



51

5.  Responding to the  
consultation

Page 73



52

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Issue date and deadline
5.1 This consultation was published on 29 November 2017 and will close on  

21 February 2018.

Additional copies
5.2 Additional copies are available online and can be downloaded from  

www.gov.uk/dft

5.3  Further copies of this consultation document, along with alternative formats (e.g. Braille 
or audio CD) are also available by emailing GWconsultation@dft.gsi.gov.uk

Responding online
5.4 You will probably find it most convenient to submit a response online. Please visit  

www.gov.uk/dft to submit your response.

Other ways to respond
5.5 If you choose not to use the online system, for example because you use specialist 

accessibility software that is not compatible, you may download a Word document 
version of the response form from the address above and email or post it to:

 – Email: GWconsultation@dft.gsi.gov.uk

 – Post:  Great Western Franchise Consultation, Department for Transport, Zone 4/19, 
Great Minster House, 33 Horseferry Road, London, SW1P 4DR

5.6 Please make sure that your response reaches us by the closing date, as we will not be 
able to consider responses received after this date.

5.7 When responding, please tell us whether you are acting as an individual member of the 
public, or representing the views of an organisation or group. If responding on behalf of 
a larger organisation, please make it clear who the organisation represents and, where 
applicable, how the views of its members were agreed. If you are responding as an 
individual, any personal details you are able to provide will help strengthen the evidence 
base as we develop our proposals and respond to the suggestions made. This 
includes:

 – The first half of your postcode

 – Your nearest station (not necessarily the one you use most frequently)

 – Which service group, as described in paragraph 1.1, you most often use

Page 74

http://www.gov.uk/dft
mailto:GWconsultation%40dft.gsi.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.gov.uk/dft
mailto:GWconsultation%40dft.gsi.gov.uk?subject=


53

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

5.8 When we are looking at your replies, and deciding on the specification for the 
continuation period, we will have regard to the public sector equality duty created by 
the Equality Act 2010, which requires that public bodies have due regard to the need 
to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations 
between different people when carrying out their activities. For more information, 
please see https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance

Freedom of Information and Data Protection
5.9 Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal information, 

may be subject to publication or disclosure in accordance with the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (FOIA) or the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.

●● If you want information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be 
aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice with which public 
authorities must comply and which deals, amongst other things, with obligations of 
confidence. 

●● In view of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the 
information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure 
of the information, we will take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give 
an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. An 
automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, be 
regarded as binding on the Department for Transport.

●● We will process your personal data in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 
and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that your personal data will not 
be disclosed to third parties. Individual consultation responses may be shared with 
the current franchisee (and/or bidders in any future franchise competition) in an 
anonymised format to assist them in the development of their proposals for the 
future franchise.

●● By providing personal data in response to this consultation, you consent to the 
Department for Transport, or third parties contracted to the Department for 
Transport, processing your personal data for the purpose of analysing responses to 
this consultation.

●● It would be very helpful to the Department for Transport if, as part of its analysis of 
responses to this consultation, it was able to take into account certain sensitive 
personal data that you may wish to provide in response to this consultation, for 
example details of any disability you have. In providing your responses to the 
Department for Transport by email or post please indicate whether you consent to 
the Department for Transport, or third parties contracted to the Department for 
Transport, processing your sensitive personal data for the purposes of analysing 
responses to this consultation.

Page 75

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance


54

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

Consultation principles
5.10 This consultation is being conducted in line with the government’s consultation 

principles. 

5.11 Further information is available at:  
www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance

5.12 If you have any comments about the consultation process please contact: 
Consultation Co-ordinator, Department for Transport, Zone 1/29, Great Minster House, 
33 Horseferry Road, London, SW1P 4DR or mail: consultation@dft.gsi.gov.uk

5.13 The reference number for this consultation is: DfT-2017-21

Page 76

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
mailto:%20consultation%40dft.gsi.gov.uk?subject=


55

6. Next steps

Page 77



56

Great Western Rail Franchise – Public Consultation

6.1 Once the consultation has closed, we will review the responses and publish a summary. 
The responses will inform the development of a “Request for Proposal”, the formal 
document in which we will set out our requirements for the two-year continuation period 
from April 2020 and invite the existing operator to submit its proposals for meeting 
those requirements. We aim to issue this to the existing franchise operator in mid-2018. 

6.2 In developing our requirements for inclusion in the Request for Proposal, we will need to 
consider:

●● Consistency with our objectives for the franchise (a draft of which is included in 
Chapter 2 above) and the views expressed in this consultation.

●● Feasibility: We need to be satisfied that our specification will be deliverable, taking 
account of the overall capability of the railway infrastructure.

●● Value for money: Where specifying particular enhancements could involve an 
increase in subsidy to the franchise or reduction in premium paid to government, we 
will need to be satisfied that the increased subsidy or premium foregone represents 
good value for money. While we assess value for money using standard rail industry 
and public sector forecasting and appraisal frameworks, we will also take into 
account of how proposed enhancements support our long term objectives for the 
franchise (see Chapter 2).

●● Affordability: Having identified enhancements that are feasible and offer good value 
for money, we will need to ensure that the package of proposals for the continuation 
period is affordable given the overall funding available to the Department. 

6.3 Having received the operator’s proposals, we would evaluate them and seek to 
negotiate mutually-acceptable terms. Our aim would be to secure agreement towards 
the end of 2018. However, if it becomes clear that we are unable to agree on terms that 
offer substantial passenger benefits at an acceptable cost to the taxpayer, we will retain 
the option to proceed with a competition for a new franchise to begin in April 2020.

Page 78



Page 79



Page 80


	Agenda
	IMD5 Great Western Consultation
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


